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c      AOC Holdings, Inc.

Profile

As a comprehensive energy-focused group, the AOC Holdings Group (the Group) seeks to 

fulfill its responsibilities as a corporate citizen by contributing to the future affluence of 

society and the realization of a safe and comfortable environment. Based on this mission, the 

Group provides a stable supply of energy products, including oil, natural gas, and petroleum 

products, which are indispensable to people’s daily lives and industrial activities.

Note: Percentage shows investment ratio. 

petro progress, inc.
(Purchasing, marketing, and transportation of 
crude oil and petroleum products)

Japan Oil engineering Co., ltd.
(Engineering and consulting services in upstream and down-
stream sectors of the oil and gas industry)

100%100%

50%49.9%

100%

AOC Holdings, Inc.
www.aochd.co.jp/e/ 

AOC Holdings, Inc. (AOCHD), was established in January 2003 as a joint stockholding company 

for Arabian Oil Company, Ltd. (AOC), and Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. (FOC). AOCHD’s mission is to 

maximize the corporate value of the Group by leveraging a unique business structure featuring 

integrated upstream and downstream operations while applying thorough risk management. 

Responsible for the exploration, develop-

ment, production, and sale of crude oil 

and natural gas, AOC was established in 

1958.  Since then, as the Japanese pio-

neer of development of overseas oil fields, 

AOC has been engaged in upstream oil 

operations in Saudi Arabia and Kuwait as 

well as in North America, East Asia, and 

Europe. AOC’s business operations have 

contributed strongly to the stable supply 

of energy to resource-poor Japan. 

arabian Oil Company, ltd.
www.aoc.co.jp/e/ 

Fuji Oil Company, ltd.
www.foc.co.jp/  (Japanese only) 

Responsible for crude oil refining and the 

sale of petroleum products, FOC was es-

tablished in 1964 through investment by 

such companies as AOC, The Tokyo Elec-

tric Power Company, Incorporated, and 

Sumitomo Chemical Company, Limited. 

In 1968, FOC commenced operations of 

its refinery complex in Sodegaura, Chiba 

Prefecture. As an advanced, large-scale 

integrated refinery capable of processing 

heavy crude oil efficiently, the Sodegaura 

Refinery plays a vital role in supplying 

petroleum products to the greater Tokyo 

area, which is a major consuming region. 

FOC has also expanded its operations to 

provide petrochemical feedstocks.
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Cautionary Statement with Respect to Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report contains forward-looking statements that reflect AOCHD and its 

consolidated subsidiaries‘ forecast, targets, plans, and strategies. These forward-looking 

statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve known and unknown 

risks, uncertainties, and various other factors that may cause AOCHD’s actual results, 

performance, achievements, or financial position to be materially different from any future 

results, performance, achievements, or financial position expressed or implied by these 

forward-looking statements.
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Consolidated Financial Highlights

In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, the price of Dubai crude 

oil, which stood at the $80 per barrel range at the beginning of 

the fiscal year, exceeded $100 per barrel at the end of the fiscal 

year due to increasing demand in emerging economies and the 

heightened tensions in North Africa and the Middle East, with the 

average price for the whole fiscal year coming to around $84 per 

barrel. On the foreign exchange market, the yen steadily appreci-

ated against the U.S. dollar, from the ¥93 range to the dollar at the 

beginning of the fiscal year to the ¥83 range to the dollar at the 

end of the fiscal year, reflecting the sluggish performance of the 

U.S. economy and the fiscal and financial turmoil in the euro zone. 

 Domestic demand for petroleum products stayed firm due 

to the record heat wave and a recovery in large industrial user 

demand. While the Great East Japan Earthquake in March 2011 

brought about a temporary shortage of supply of petroleum 

products, the petroleum industry mounted joint efforts to ensure 

the stable supply by enhancing the production system and for-

warding large quantities of petroleum products to earthquake-

afflicted areas.

 Under these circumstances, AOC Holdings, Inc. (AOCHD), 

posted consolidated net sales of ¥571,149 million in the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2011, a decline of ¥23,635 million, or 4.0%, 

from the previous fiscal year. AOCHD recorded an operating 

income of ¥4,363 million (an operating loss of ¥4,985 million in 

the previous fiscal year) and a net income of ¥4,019 million (a net 

loss of ¥16,160 million in the previous fiscal year).

Net sales of upstream operations came to ¥93,196 mil-

lion, a decrease of ¥96,608 million, or 50.9%, from the 

previous fiscal year. This resulted from such factors as a 

decrease in sales volume and the impact of the stronger 

yen, although crude oil prices increased. In segment bal-

ance, upstream operations incurred a segment loss of 

¥4,574 million, compared with a segment loss of ¥3,355 

million in the previous fiscal year, due to larger foreign 

exchange losses and other factors.

Net sales of downstream operations increased by 

¥72,973 million, or 18.0%, over the previous fiscal year, 

to ¥477,953 million, thanks to a rise in sales volume and 

higher selling prices. Downstream operations chalked up 

a segment profit of ¥6,087 million due to an improve-

ment in market and other conditions, a turnaround from 

a segment loss of ¥3,943 million in the previous fiscal 

year.

Results of Operations and Major Topics
Composition of Sales by Operations

 83.7%16.3%
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to Our Shareholders 
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Downstream Operations
(Oil Refinery and Sales)

Upstream Operations 
(Oil/Gas Development and Sales)

Years ended March 31
Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars1

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2011

For the year:
Net sales ¥801,020 ¥930,738 ¥927,222 ¥594,784 ¥571,149 $6,868,900
Operating income (loss) 25,616 13,954 (35,042) (4,985) 4,363 52,471
Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests 27,205 8,401 (39,370) (8,010) 1,318 15,851
Net income (loss) 18,999 4,665 (31,765) (16,160) 4,019 48,334
Capital expenditures2 26,542 19,967 15,380 27,092 6,312 75,911
Depreciation and amortization 4,580 6,253 10,633 12,922 13,464 161,924

At year-end:
Total assets ¥385,431 ¥451,892 ¥352,985 ¥376,238 ¥370,542 $4,456,308
Total net assets 143,261 145,147 108,748 91,344 93,067 1,119,266
Interest-bearing debt 136,002 176,471 163,876 206,747 172,800 2,078,172
Interest-bearing debt3 82,475 113,506 111,478 171,073 151,191 1,818,292
Debt-equity ratio (times) 0.96 1.22 1.47 2.20 1.76
Debt-equity ratio3 (times) 0.58 0.78 1.00 1.82 1.54

Per share (yen and U.S. dollars1):
Basic net income (loss) per share ¥  247.53 ¥    60.41 ¥ (411.37) ¥ (209.29) ¥  52.06 $    0.626
Cash dividends per share attributable to the year 15 15 15 0 6 0.072

Number of employees 629 609 597 606 605 

1: The translation of yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts is included solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan and has been made, as a matter of arithmetic 

computation only, at the rate of ¥83.15 = U.S.$1.00, the approximate rate of exchange on March 31, 2011.

2: Figures in 2010 and thereafter represent “increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.”

3: Excluding borrowings for lending funds under the loan agreement with Kuwait Gulf Oil Company, which is substantially liable for repayment



Annual Report 2011      3

Performance Report and Dubai Crude Oil Prices / Exchange Rate Change

Upstream Operations Downstream Operations
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Business Environment in the Petroleum Industry

In the crude oil market, the price of Dubai crude oil, which stood 

at the $80 per barrel range at the beginning of the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2011 followed a steady uptrend and exceeded 

$100 per barrel at the end of the fiscal year, reflecting increas-

ing demand in emerging economies such as China and India, 

an inflow of speculative money against the backdrop of further 

easing in U.S. monetary policy and heightened tensions in North 

Africa and the Middle East, with the average price for the whole 

fiscal year coming to around $84 per barrel, an increase of about 

$15 over the previous fiscal year.

 As for the dollar/yen exchange rate, after starting the fiscal 

year in the ¥93 range, the yen steadily rose against the dollar 

and traded in the ¥83 range at the end of the fiscal year, reflect-

ing the sluggish performance of the U.S. economy and the fiscal 

and financial turmoil in the euro zone.

 Domestic demand for petroleum products, which had been 

on the decline in the previous years, turned up to exceed year-

before levels, centering on gasoline, gas oil and fuel oil C, due 

to the record heat wave and a robust recovery in large industrial 

user demand.

 While the Great East Japan Earthquake in March 2011 

brought about a temporary, serious shortage of supply of petro-

leum products, the petroleum industry mounted joint efforts to 

ensure the stable supply by, among others, enhancing produc-

tion system at oil refineries in operation, forwarding of large 

quantities of petroleum products from oil refineries in Western 

Japan to earthquake-afflicted areas and the reductions in man-

datory stockpiling levels in the private sector.

Consolidated Performance and Business Operations

In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, consolidated net sales 

dropped 4.0% from the previous fiscal year to ¥571.1 billion, 

but the operating balance achieved a significant recovery from 

an operating loss of ¥4.9 billion to an operating income of ¥4.3 

billion, with the after-tax balance also turning around from a net 

loss of ¥16.1 billion to a net income of ¥4.0 billion.

 The breakdown by segment is as follows:

 In upstream operations (oil/gas development and sales), net 

sales almost halved, falling 50.9% from the previous fiscal year 

to ¥93.1 billion. On top of the impact of the stronger yen, this 

was mainly due to a huge drop in Khafji crude oil sales follow-

ing the January 2010 change in the contracted quantity under 

a long-term crude oil sale and purchase agreement with Kuwait 

Petroleum Corporation (KPC) from 100 thousand barrels per day 

to 40 thousand barrels per day. Upstream operations incurred a 

segment loss of ¥4.5 billion owing to an increase in foreign ex-

change losses and other factors.

 In downstream operations (oil refinery and sales), net 

sales posted a sizable rise of 18.0% year on year to ¥477.9 

billion. This was mainly ascribable to increased sales vol-

umes of petroleum products and petrochemical products 

thanks to firm demand at home and China and other Asian  

We would like to express our deepest sympathy for those who have been 

impacted by the Great East Japan Earthquake. We wish the afflicted areas the 

earliest possible restoration.

2
aOCHD at a glance
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and investorsTo Our Shareholders and Investors
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countries as well as higher selling unit prices for those 

products following rises in crude oil prices. The segment 

balance made a significant turnaround from a segment  

loss of ¥3.9 billion in the previous fiscal year to a segment profit 

of ¥6.0 billion, reflecting a substantial improvement in margins 

of petroleum products and petrochemical products and an im-

pact of initial inventories.

 In upstream operations in the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2011, we sold 36.9 thousand barrels per day under a long-term 

crude oil sale and purchase agreement with KPC. We also sold 0.2 

thousand barrels per day of equity crude oil produced from the 

Gyda oil field in the Norwegian North Sea, where we hold 5% 

working interests.

 In upstream operations, we also launched the engineering 

and technical services business. The corporate value of Arabian 

Oil Company, Ltd., which has the tradition of operating Japan’s 

first independently developed oil field overseas, lies in human 

resources capable of commanding an abundance of know-

how and technologies. By taking advantage of these human 

resources, we conducted feasibility studies on the upgrading of 

Kuwaiti heavy oil and provided technical services for oil and gas 

upstream projects of other companies.

 In downstream operations, we provided a stable supply of 

petroleum products and petrochemical products to such core 

customers as Showa Shell Sekiyu K. K., the Tokyo Electric Power 

Company, Incorporated (TEPCO) and Sumitomo Chemical Com-

pany, Limited with the Sodegaura Refinery’s crude oil processing 

reaching 7,818 thousand kiloliters, an increase of 20.4% over 

the previous fiscal year when a large-scale regular maintenance 

was carried out, and sales volume also rising 8.8% year on year 

to 7,932 thousand kiloliters.

 As of November 1, 2010, we scrapped the No. 1 Crude Dis-

tillation Unit (CDU) at the Sodegaura Refinery with a crude oil 

processing capacity of 52 thousand barrels per day, and this 

reduced the refinery’s crude oil processing capacity from 192 

thousand barrels per day to 140 thousand barrels per day. Sub-

sequently, we increased the No.2 CDU’s capacity in April 2011 in 

view of the recent trend of domestic demand, and this raised the 

Sodegaura Refinery’s crude oil processing capacity to 143 thou-

sand barrels per day.

 As for the impact of the Great East Japan Earthquake and our 

post-earthquake responses, we carried out an overall checkup at 

the Sodegaura Refinery immediately after the occurrence of the 

earthquake, and we continued the refinery’s normal operation af-

ter we found no abnormalities in equipment or elsewhere. There 

was almost no impact at all on shipments of products either.

 As there arose a shortage of supply of petroleum products 

mainly in Eastern Japan, we suspended planned export of gaso-

line and shipped petroleum products in drum cans and increased 

shipments of fuel oil C for use in power generation to afflicted 

areas.

Fumio Sekiya

President and Representing Director

8
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Outlook for the Fiscal Year Ending March 31, 2012, 
and the Group’s Mission

As for the business environment in the fiscal year ending March 31, 

2012, while crude oil prices are expected to stay high, uncertainties 

for the future are likely to increase further, with destabilizing factors 

in the world economy, such as financial turmoil in the euro zone, 

the unstable Middle East situation and concerns over a possible col-

lapse of economic bubbles in China, combining with the impact on 

the Japanese economy of the Great East Japan Earthquake.

 Amid this environment, in upstream operations, the Group 

will seek to bring development projects already being under-

taken onto a commercial basis as early as possible and strive for 

an early recovery of our earnings performance through increased 

production of equity crude oil, stable sales of Khafji crude oil and 

strengthening of the engineering and technical services business. 

In downstream operations, we will maintain stable sales of pe-

troleum products and seek to ensure continuous profit by mak-

ing efficient use of existing facilities at the Sodegaura Refinery 

and flexibly responding to changing demand.

 For the earnings forecast for the fiscal year ending March 

31, 2012, we project net sales of ¥674.0 billion, an increase of 

18.0% over the previous fiscal year, and an operating income of 

¥7.4 billion, an increase of 69.6% year on year. As the basis of 

these projections, we assume the Dubai crude oil price of $105 

per barrel and the dollar/yen exchange rate of ¥83.

 Recently, energy policy has been the subject of animated dis-

cussion globally. In Japan as well, the conventional energy policy 

may be up for review. In order to fulfill our mission of ensuring 

the “stable supply of energy” to Japan even in these fluid and 

uncertain times, we will strive to give full play to our capabilities 

and contribute to the realization of an affluent and safe society.

To Our Shareholders and Investors

The Group recognizes returning profits to our sharehold-

ers and investors as a key issue for management. While en-

suring internal reserves are built up adequately to facilitate 

medium- and long-term business development, our basic 

policy is to strive for the maintenance of stable dividends, 

after taking into account operating results and our funding  

balance. In line with this policy, we have decided to resume 

dividend payments by paying ¥6 per share in year-end dividend 

for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, after having passed 

dividends in the previous fiscal year. For the fiscal year ending 

March 31, 2012, we plan to pay dividends of ¥10 per share.

 The global economic and energy situation does not warrant 

optimism, yet could change abruptly and rapidly. Leveraging 

our unique business structure and characteristics, we will seek 

to contribute to the stable supply of energy to Japan and win a 

place in the global energy industry.

September 2011

Fumio Sekiya

President and Representing Director

2
aOCHD at a glance
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and investorsTo Our Shareholders and Investors
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Medium-Term Business Plan

By making the maximum use of human resources with 

technical skills as an oil operator, cultivated in years of 

overseas oil field operations, and oil field management 

experiences, we will seek to revitalize the business and 

restructure the base of profitability. More specifically, 

we will focus on the Middle East (including Egypt) and 

Norway as core areas, and by making necessary invest-

ment in line with the medium-term business plan, we 

will aim at oil reserves of approximately 20 million bar-

rels and oil production of approximately 10 thousand 

barrels per day as crude oil equivalent target figures 

during the plan period.

Upstream Operations Downstream Operations

In May 2010, AOCHD formulated a medium-term business plan covering the five years for upstream 

operations and the three years for downstream operations, respectively, from the fiscal year ending 

March 31, 2011.

We will strive to enhance our profitability and increase our corporate value by executing the medium-term business 

plan by the AOC Holdings Group as one.

With safety as the first priority, we will aim to become 

a top-class petroleum refiner in Japan with strong in-

ternational competitiveness and uniqueness, having 

human resources, organization and equipment that 

make us capable of anticipating changes in the busi-

ness environment. In order to achieve this vision, we 

will pursue the following actions:

①  Seize every opportunity available to improve 

profitability by leveraging to the fullest pos-

sible extent facilities at the Sodegaura Refinery 

where a series of constructions of facilities to 

deal with the shift in demand away from black 

oil and constructions to enhance export facili-

ties were completed.

②  Improve systems continuously for safe opera-

tion, environmental preservation and quality 

control of products, strive to reduce green-

house gas emissions by promoting energy con-

servation, and build up an efficient and stable 

supply system for petroleum products; and 

③  Maintain a stable base of profit and sound 

finances by making a thorough effort to save 

costs.

8
Review of Operations
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Upstream Operations

•		Superior	oil	and	gas	exploration,	development,	and	production	technology 
Comprehensive technology capabilities developed over many years as an oil operator in 
the Middle East

•		Human	resource	assets	with	experience	in	operations	management 
Large number of specialists with diverse experience and a strong record in all aspects of oil 
and gas operations, from exploration to development and production

Arabian Oil Company, Ltd. (AOC)

Established in 1958, AOC is the AOC Holdings Group’s core entity engaged in the exploration, development, 

production, and sale of crude oil and natural gas. Known as the Japanese pioneer of overseas oil development, 

AOC discovered the Khafji oil field in 1960 and the Hout oil field in 1963 in the offshore Neutral Zone (now 

Divided Zone) shared by Saudi Arabia and Kuwait. For nearly half a century, AOC has contributed to the stabil-

ity of Japan’s energy supply through its oil production activities as an oil operator. Even after expiration of its 

concession agreements with Saudi Arabia and Kuwait, AOC has continued to utilize its strengths—experience, 

advanced technology, and accomplished personnel gained as an oil operator—to participate in many projects in 

other regions. 

Strengths: 

u p s t r e a m  O p e r a t i o n s

Kazutoshi Hoyano

President and Representing 

Director of AOC

(Vice President and Repre-

senting Director of AOCHD) 

Review of Operations
l Upstream Operations 

2
aOCHD at a glance

4
to Our Shareholders 
and investors
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In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, AOC sold 36.9 thou-

sand barrels per day of Khafji crude oil under a long-term crude 

oil sale and purchase agreement with KPC (The contracted quan-

tity was amended from 100 thousand barrels per day to 40 thou-

sand barrels per day in January 2010). Norske AEDC AS (NAEDC), 

a wholly owned subsidiary of AOC, is producing crude oil from 

the Gyda oil field (where NAEDC holds 5% working interests) in 

the Norwegian North Sea, and sold 0.2 thousand barrels per day 

of equity crude oil. In the Yme oil field for redevelopment (where 

NAEDC holds 10% working interests) in the Norwegian North 

Sea, development work is now entering the final phase.

   In Egypt, the political and economic confusion is still continu-

ing following large-scale protest movements that erupted in late 

January 2011. However, AOC, as an oil operator of the North-

west October Block in the Gulf of Suez in Egypt (where AOC 

holds 50% working interests), is cautiously proceeding with the 

preparations for development while closely monitoring such 

changes in the business environment.

 In the engineering and technical services business, AOC con-

ducted feasibility studies on the upgrading of Kuwaiti heavy oil 

and provided technical services and dispatched engineers for oil 

and gas upstream projects of other companies.

   As a result, net sales of upstream operations came to ¥93,196 

million, a decrease of ¥96,608 million, or 50.9%, from the previ-

ous fiscal year. This resulted from such factors as a decrease in 

sales volume and the impact of the stronger yen, although crude 

oil prices rose. In segment balance, upstream operations incurred 

a segment loss of ¥4,574 million, compared with a segment loss 

of ¥3,355 million in the previous fiscal year, due to larger foreign 

exchange losses and other factors.

   New Huanan Oil Development Co., Ltd. (NHODC), an AOC 

subsidiary, had been producing oil in the Lufeng 13-1 oil field in 

the South China Sea in China, but ceased production operations 

on February 22, 2009, due to the termination of the relevant 

petroleum contract. Because of this, NHODC decided to dissolve 

itself in March 2010 and completed its liquidation proceedings in 

May 2011.

Review of the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2011

Review of Upstream Operations

［  Individual Operations ］

Khafji-Related Operations:

Crude oil sales under the long-term crude oil sale and purchase 

agreement 

AOC sold 36.9 thousand barrels per day of Khafji crude oil under the 20-

year crude oil sale and purchase agreement concluded with KPC after 

the January 2003 expiration of the concession agreement with Kuwait 

and the January 2010 amendment of the agreement (under which the 

contracted quantity was changed to 40 thousand barrels per day).

• Crude Oil Sales Volume (Years ended March 31)
(Thousands of Barrels per Day)

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Khafji crude oil 95.2 89.8 94.5 77.6 36.9

Hout crude oil 5.0 5.0 4.9 3.8 0.0

Operations in the Norwegian North Sea:

Redevelopment of Yme oil field

NAEDC holds 5% working interests in the Gyda oil field in the Norwe-

gian North Sea, where crude oil production began in June 1990, and is 

currently producing (on a 100% basis) approximately 5,000 barrels per 

day. Going forward, NAEDC will strive to maximize crude oil produc-

tion in the Gyda oil field by drilling additional development wells.

 Since September 2008, NAEDC 

has acquired portions of the inter-

ests in an exploration block adja-

cent to the Gyda oil field, the Yme 

oil field for redevelopment, and 

two exploration blocks neighboring 

it, as well as an exploration block 

located 20 km east of the Gyda oil 

field, respectively. As for the rede-

velopment project of the Yme oil 

field, in which NAEDC acquired 10% working interests, the technical 

risks are limited. Average production over a four-year period after the 

commencement of production is projected at around 25 thousand bar-

rels per day. Development work there is now entering the final phase. 

• Crude Oil Sales Volume (Jan.–Dec.)
(Thousands of Barrels per Day)

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Ekofisk crude oil (Gyda oil field)

(Norwegian North Sea) 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.3 0.2

North Sea
Yme oil field

Gyda oil field

Norway

United 
Kingdom

Denmark

Norske AEDC AS

Stavanger

The Netherlands

8
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Operations in the Gulf of Suez 

in Egypt: 

Development of Northwest Octo-

ber Block 

In February 2005, AOC won an 

international bid for an oil and 

gas development project in the 

Northwest October Block in the 

northern Gulf of Suez in Egypt, 

and concluded an oil production 

sharing contract with the govern-

ment of Egypt and Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation (EGPC) in 

July of the same year. Following exploration under this contract, AOC 

confirmed the existence of oil in commercial quantities in September 

2006. Having received official approval from the government of Egypt 

for petroleum and gas development in June 2008, AOC established 

AOC Egypt Petroleum Company, Ltd., as a wholly owned subsidiary to 

be responsible for oil development operations in the Block in October 

2008. In a related development, AOC concluded an agreement to 

transfer 50% of the 100% working interests it held in the Northwest 

October Block and a joint operating agreement with EGPC in August 

2009.

 AOC is now cautiously proceeding with the preparations for devel-

opment while closely monitoring changes in the business environment 

due to the political and economic confusion in Egypt since late Janu-

ary 2011.

Business Activities in Iraq

In June 2005, as part of Japan’s cooperation efforts in rebuilding the 

Iraqi economy following the war in Iraq, AOC concluded a memoran-

dum of understanding on technical support of the redevelopment of 

the upstream petroleum industry with Iraq’s Ministry of Oil. Based on 

the agreement, during the three-year period up to January 2008, AOC 

implemented an assistance program which included the development 

plan of the Tuba oil field for Iraq’s South Oil Company, an expansion 

and reinforcement plan for crude oil loading facilities, and techni-

cal training for Iraqi engineers. AOC aims to use this experience as a 

springboard for entering upstream business activities in Iraq.

Potential of Upstream Operations

Northwest October Block

Egypt Red Sea

Saudi Arabia

Sinai PeninsulaEgypt Branch

Cairo

Since the discovery and commencement of oil production at the 

Khafji and Hout oil fields, AOC has continued its oil operations 

for almost half a century. Furthermore, AOC has worked on pe-

troleum development projects around the world, including the 

production of natural gas in the US Gulf of Mexico (1990–2004); 

crude oil production in the Norwegian North Sea (since 1990); 

and crude oil production in China’s part of the South China Sea 

(1993–2009). 

 In recent years, AOC has been working to expand its produc-

tion of equity crude oil by developing new projects in the Gulf of 

Suez in Egypt, and in the Norwegian North Sea.

Through its involvement with a variety of projects, AOC has de-

veloped a large pool of specialists in all aspects of oil operation, 

from exploration to development and production. Currently, the 

Group has about 100 engineers overall. The Group is consistent-

ly emphasizing the maintenance and improvement of their skill 

levels.

A Pioneer in Overseas Oil Development by Japanese Firms

Large Number of Specialists to Assure Technology Capabilities

Review of Operations
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Health, Safety, and Environment (HSE) Programs 

Upgrading and Maintaining the HSE Management System

1.  Comply with and continuously improve on all applicable HSE laws, regulations, International Industry Standards, and other related inter-
nal and external requirements to which AOC subscribes and applies.

2.  Give top priority to the health and safety of all our employees, service contractors, and people affected by our operations and in this regard, 
AOC will identify and assess health and safety hazards in advance and eliminate them or, if not possible, reduce risks to as low as reasonably 
practicable to prevent incidents.

3.  Encourage the use of the best available advanced technology, efficient use of energy and materials, zero emission, and the minimization 
of wastes to reduce the adverse impact of our operations on the environment.

4.  Implement, maintain, and improve HSE management systems to the highest levels possible so as to achieve continual HSE performance 
improvement under the direct supervision of the top management.

5.  Conduct education, training, and interoffice awareness activities in order to make staff conscious of their roles and responsibilities re-
garding HSE activities and finally to improve awareness of HSE issues.

6.  Disclose AOC’s HSE policy and the results of HSE activities to build mutual understanding among stakeholders.

Currently, there are two major trends in oil development. One 

trend is a shift towards frontier areas with harsh conditions, such 

as remote locations, polar conditions, or deep-sea situations. The oth-

er trend is towards a focus on recovering the remaining crude oil 

from existing oil fields by achieving as high oil recovery as possible. 

AOC has developed operational capabilities in these areas during 

its long years of experience as an operator of such sites as the 

Khafji oil field.

 For example, in the Khafji and Hout oil fields, AOC analyzed the 

geological history, sedimentation, and structural development of 

the area by interpreting well data and 3D seismic data. Utilizing the 

results of these analyses and interpretations, AOC developed de-

tailed 3D reservoir models for optimum field development.

 In the 1970s, AOC introduced dump water injection to maintain 

reservoir pressure and improve oil recovery in the Khafji oil field. In 

1989, AOC introduced gas lift operation utilizing associated gas as 

a kind of artificial lifting technology. This technology injects gas 

into non-natural flow wells that have lost the ability to spout.

 AOC drilled and completed the first offshore horizontal well in 

the Middle East. In addition, AOC successfully completed extended 

reach drilling (ERD) in a gas field two to five kilometers away from 

an offshore platform in the US Gulf of Mexico. One of the wells 

reached a total depth of 20 thousand feet (approximately 6 thou-

sand meters), with a maximum inclination angle of 70° and a hori-

zontal departure of 15,500 feet (approximately 4,700 meters), set-

ting a new drilling record.

 More recently, AOC has been working on research projects on 

enhanced oil recovery with CO2 injection and other methods.

Aiming to conduct business with a commitment to fulfilling its re-

sponsibilities to the economy, the environment, and society, AOC 

has introduced an HSE management system. 

 Recognizing the significant risks related to health, safety, and the 

environment inherent in the upstream operations of its petroleum 

business, AOC is committed to conducting its business with a law-

abiding spirit and the highest moral sense. AOC will endeavor to 

ensure the safety and health of people related to its business and 

to protect the Earth and its environment. It will strive to consistently 

improve its HSE management to develop a sustainable growth so-

ciety that harmonizes man and nature.   

 In its operations, AOC implements HSE measures based on the 

following basic strategies:

http://www.aochd.co.jp/e/environment/Please visit >>>

Integrated Engineering Capabilities for Frontier Oil Development and Enhancing Oil Recovery
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Downstream Operations
Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. (FOC)

In 1964, FOC was established through investment by such companies as Arabian Oil Company, Ltd., The Tokyo 

Electric Power Company, Incorporated (TEPCO), and Sumitomo Chemical Company, Limited. It is responsible 

for downstream operations such as crude oil refining and the sale of petroleum products in the AOC Holdings 

Group. In 1968, FOC commenced operations of the Sodegaura Refinery, Chiba Prefecture. Today, as a large-scale 

integrated refinery with a capacity of 143 thousand barrels per day, the Sodegaura Refinery supplies petroleum 

products primarily to clients in the greater Tokyo area, and is also expanding its export infrastructure for Asia and 

other overseas regions.

•	Location—Large-scale	refinery	in	the	greater	Tokyo	area
  Capitalizing on the advantage of having a large-scale refinery in the greater Tokyo area, a 

major consuming region, FOC has built a business structure with relatively low sales risk in 
cooperation with Showa Shell Sekiyu K. K., TEPCO, Sumitomo Chemical Company, Limited, 
JX Nippon Oil & Energy Corporation, Japan Airlines Co., Ltd., and other business partners. 

•		Efficiency—Sophisticated	refining	and	cracking	units	and	a	flexible	production	
system that can adapt to changes in the demand structure

  FOC is one of the most efficient refiners to process heavy crude oil, owing to the full-scale 
operation of the No. 2 Fluid Catalytic Cracking (FCC) Unit and having established a system to 
aggressively respond to the increasing demand for clean oil (such as gasoline, kerosene, gas 
oil, etc.), particularly in Asia.

Strengths:

D o w n s t r e a m  O p e r a t i o n s

Fumio Sekiya

President and Representing 

Director of FOC

(President and Representing 

Director of AOCHD) 
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In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, FOC continued to provide 

a stable supply of petroleum products and petrochemical prod-

ucts to such core customers as Showa Shell Sekiyu K. K., TEPCO 

and Sumitomo Chemical Company, Limited with the Sodegaura 

Refinery’s crude oil processing reaching 7,818 thousand kiloliters, 

an increase of 1,322 thousand kiloliters, or 20.4%, over the previ-

ous fiscal year when a large-scale regular maintenance was carried 

out, and sales volume also rising by 639 thousand kiloliters, or 

8.8%, year on year to 7,932 thousand kiloliters. FOC reported to 

the Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry that as of November 

1, 2010, it would scrap the No. 1 Crude Distillation Unit (CDU) 

at the Sodegaura Refinery with a crude oil processing capacity of 

52 thousand barrels per day. The scrapping reduced FOC’s crude 

oil processing capacity from 192 thousand barrels per day to 140 

thousand barrels per day. However, following an increase in de-

mand after the Great East Japan Earthquake, FOC increased the 

No. 2 CDU’s capacity to 143 thousand barrels per day.

 FOC carried out an overall checkup at the Sodegaura Refinery 

immediately after the earthquake, and was able to continue the 

refinery’s operation after no abnormalities were found in equip-

ment or elsewhere. FOC also took a variety of steps in response 

to the earthquake, including the suspension of planned export 

of gasoline, and shipments of petroleum products in drum cans 

to afflicted areas and increased shipments of fuel oil C for use in 

power generation. Petro Progress Pte Ltd., based in Singapore, 

continued business operations such as transportation, purchas-

ing and sales of crude oil and petroleum products.

 As a result, net sales of downstream operations increased 

by ¥72,973 million, or 18.0%, over the previous fiscal year, to 

¥477,953 million, thanks to a rise in sales volume and higher 

selling prices. Downstream operations posted a segment profit 

of ¥6,087 million due to an improvement in market and other 

conditions, a turnaround from a segment loss of ¥3,943 million 

in the previous fiscal year.

Review of the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2011

Review of Downstream Operations
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In the distillation process, crude oil is heated to approximately 

350ºC in a heating furnace and fed into a refining unit called 

the CDU. In this process, various fractions of distillate, such as 

gasoline, naphtha, kerosene, and gas oil, are extracted by their 

different vaporization temperatures to become various petroleum 

products. There will be remaining residues after the distillation 

process, from which fuel oil and asphalt are produced.

 Demand for clean oil, such as gasoline, kerosene, and gas 

oil, is growing around the world, particularly in fast-developing 

Asia. In this region, demand for gasoline is rising along with the 

increasing number of automobiles. Moreover, there is increased 

use of fuels that produce less sulfur oxides and nitrogen oxides 

due to environmental issues.

 The secondary processes after distillation need to have a high 

cracking ratio to minimize the production ratio of fuel oil or 

asphalt to as little as possible, and thus increase the yield of clean 

oil. Black oil contains many impurities, such as sulfur, which has 

a high impact on the environment. The higher cracking capability 

the refinery has, the more effectively the crude oil is processed, 

which means that the refinery enables the supply of petroleum 

products with high quality and added value. Having a high 

cracking ratio means the refinery can deal with both the trend 

toward higher demand for clean oil and the trend toward larger 

supply of heavy crude oil, which indicates the sophistication of 

the refinery.

Production Facilities

• Refining Process

Importance of Cracking and Efficient Use of Black Oil
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To further crack black oil to obtain high value-added petroleum 

products, the key is the processing capacity of secondary units. 

Among the many types of secondary units used are catalytic 

reforming and FCC, desulfurization, hydrocracking, and coking 

units. 

 The units of the Sodegaura Refinery include two FCC units, 

with a total capacity of 39 thousand barrels per day, and the 

Eureka Thermal Cracking Unit, which has a capacity of 30 

thousand barrels per day. The Eureka Thermal Cracking Unit is 

capable of cracking and refining asphalt, considered the final 

residue of the crude oil refining process, into fractions used in the 

production of gasoline and gas oil. FOC is the only company in 

the world with this type of cracker. In June 2009, FOC increased 

the capacity of its No. 2 FCC unit to 21 thousand barrels per 

day and the capacity of the Eureka Thermal Cracking Unit to 30 

thousand barrels per day.

 The total of this processing capacity divided by the actual 

amount of crude oil processed yields the processing rate of 

the units, which in the case of the Sodegaura Refinery is about 

50%, a high processing capacity for heavy crude oil. In addition, 

through the use of the Eureka Thermal Cracking Unit, the 

Sodegaura Refinery reduces the amount of final residues in crude 

oil processing from the usual more than 20% to only 6%.

 Japan imports various qualities of crude oil from various oil-

producing countries. Refineries do not process a single type 

of crude oil all year, but rather employ a variety of crude oil in 

their processing in response to the season or trends in product 

demand. The average API gravity* of the crude oil processed at 

the Sodegaura Refinery for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 

was 31.6 ºAPI, far below the average of 35.9 ºAPI for all domestic 

refineries. The Sodegaura Refinery, one of the most efficient 

refineries that processes heavy crude oil and other petroleum 

products in Japan, has achieved a high efficiency rate in its use of 

petroleum as well as low crude oil costs.

* API gravity:  The American Petroleum Institute gravity, or API gravity, is a measure 

of how heavy or light a petroleum liquid is compared to water. The 

higher the rating, the lighter the crude oil, and the lower the rating, 

the heavier the crude oil. 

High Performance of Processing Black Oil with FCC Units and the Eureka Thermal Cracking Unit

• Capacity of Major Refining Units 
 (As of July 2011)

Major Refining Units Units Capacity

Crude Distillation Unit (CDU) 1 143,000 B/D

Naphtha Hydrotreating Unit 1 43,000 B/D

Catalytic Reforming Unit 1 28,000 B/D

Iso-Siv Unit 1 1,900 B/D

Fluid Catalytic Cracking (FCC) Unit 2 39,000 B/D

FCC Gasoline Desulfurization Unit 1 23,000 B/D

Alkylation Unit 1 4,400 B/D

Kerosene and Gas Oil Hydrodesulfurization Unit 2 63,500 B/D

Mixed Xylene Manufacturing Unit 1 245,000 T/Y

Benzene Manufacturing Unit 2 175,000 T/Y

Vacuum Distillation Unit 1 60,000 B/D

Vacuum Gas Oil Hydrodesulfurization Unit 2 47,000 B/D

Vacuum Residue Thermal Cracking Unit
(Eureka Thermal Cracking Unit) 

1 30,000 B/D

Note: B/D: Barrels per Day, T/Y: Tons per Year

• Sodegaura Refinery Petroleum Product Sales Volume 
 (Years ended March 31)

(Thousands of Kiloliters)

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Gasoline 1,888 1,781 1,863 1,907 1,982

Naphtha 489 470 314 356 352

Jet fuel 1,246 1,294 1,323 1,137 1,186

Kerosene 340 311 232 186 252

Gas oil (Diesel fuel) 1,395 1,481 1,510 1,310 1,642

Fuel oil A 334 228 193 154 91

Fuel oil C 726 1,402 1,258 640 734

Benzene 153 150 111 142 181

Mixed xylene 311 308 275 286 340

Other 557 562 742 672 803

Subtotal 7,439 7,992 7,828 6,794 7,571

Barter deals 1,299 917 641 498 361

Total 8,738 8,910 8,470 7,293 7,932

Portion of total for export
(excluding bunker fuel)

132 398 544 431 685
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Through the use of sulfur-free (10 ppm sulfur content or less) 

technology, clean oil produced in Japan is the highest quality 

available in the world. As sulfur-free products are being used to 

deal with environmental issues, the demand for these products 

is growing not only in Asia, where the demand for clean oil is 

growing, but also in other countries around the world.

 Although a temporary decline in demand is forecasted due 

to the global economic recession, over the long term the trend 

towards greater demand for clean oil is not expected to change. 

To proactively take advantage of this globally increasing demand 

as an opportunity to increase earnings, FOC is steadily building a 

solid framework for expanding its exports of clean oil. In addition 

to Singapore-based affiliate Petro Progress Pte Ltd. strengthening 

its sales activities, FOC has built a pier at its Sodegaura Refinery 

that can accommodate 120,000-DWT tankers, making it one of 

the largest piers annexed to a refinery in Japan. FOC expanded 

its facilities to enable the export of a total of 3 million kiloliters 

of petroleum products annually, equivalent to about 40% of the 

Sodegaura Refinery’s crude oil processing.

Exports

Foundation for Meeting Growing Global Demand for Clean Oil

120,000-DWT pier (for export)

［Supply of Petroleum Products ］

With a refinery in Sodegaura, Chiba Prefecture, which is located in 

the greater Tokyo area, FOC has a system that can provide stable 

and low cost supplies to clients. FOC has also focused its efforts 

on developing technology, such as achieving a high cracking ratio 

for heavy crude oil. These competitive advantages of location and 

efficiency have become key words for describing FOC.

 In addition to location and efficiency, a sales base built upon a 

stable client base is another key phrase for describing FOC. Not 

only the companies that have invested in FOC to ensure supplies 

of fuel for power stations or feedstock for chemical products, 

such as TEPCO and Sumitomo Chemical Company, Limited, but 

also other major companies including Showa Shell Sekiyu K. K., 

JX Nippon Oil & Energy Corporation, and Japan Airlines Co., 

Ltd., have highly evaluated FOC’s superior features, and signed 

purchasing agreements with FOC for petroleum products.

Stable Business Partners

A Sales System with Many Long-Term Clients

• Showa Shell Sekiyu K. K.
• JX Nippon Oil & Energy Corporation
• Japan Airlines Co., Ltd. 
• Others

FOC
• The Tokyo Electric Power Company, Incorporated

• Sumitomo Chemical Company, Limited

• Sumitomo Metal Industries, Ltd., and others

Fuel products

Fuel oil / Crude oil

Naphtha / Benzene

Petroleum pitch / Xylene

Petro Progress Pte Ltd. (Singapore)
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Since commencing operations of the Sodegaura Refinery in 1968, 

FOC has devoted companywide efforts to ensuring safety and 

protecting the environment. Annually, in preparation for the 

new fiscal year, the Safety and Environment Committee, chaired 

by the President, meets to review safety and environmental 

activities throughout FOC and to formulate new strategies as 

part of a PDCA Cycle. In addition, FOC annually produces an FOC 

Environmental Report, which is made available to the public.

 In 2004, in consideration of corporate social responsibility in its 

business operations, FOC formulated the FOC Code of Conduct to 

provide a specific guide for the daily business activities of employees.

 To ensure safety in its operations, FOC obtained a high pressure 

gas safety self inspection certificate in accordance with the High 

Pressure Gas Act and its continuous operation of boilers and 

other equipment certificate in accordance with the Industrial 

Safety and Health Act, achieving continued stable operations 

of its equipment. Among other programs, FOC started its Total 

Productive Maintenance (TPM) activities in 2000. TPM activities 

involve all employees, and target safe and stable production 

operations that avoid accidents and defective products by 

increasing the efficiency of the production system through 

constant improvements in the quality of staff and facilities. In 

December 2008, FOC’s TPM program results were recognized by 

the Japan Institute of Plant Maintenance, which presented FOC 

with the Award in Excellence in Consistent TPM Commitment. 

Other safety activities that FOC implements include emergency 

drills for all employees and hiyari hatto (near miss incident) 

investigations that look for possible causes of future accidents 

hidden in small incidents.

 One way in which FOC is trying to protect the environment is 

by aiming to produce low sulfur gasoline, gas oil, and other such 

products. FOC is also strengthening its environmental activities 

in all aspects of its operations, such as actively introducing 

environmentally friendly units, ensuring safe operations, recycling 

waste, and implementing energy conservation activities.

 As a whole, the petroleum industry is targeting a 13% 

reduction in its average energy consumption basic unit during the 

period from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009 to the fiscal 

year ended March 31, 2013 in comparison to the fiscal year ended 

March 31, 1991. FOC has set a stricter target of a 15% reduction 

by the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011. In the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2011, FOC had achieved an 18.4% reduction 

compared with the fiscal year ended March 31, 1991.

 During the period from 2003 to 2007, FOC collaborated with 

Sumitomo Chemical Company, Limited and Chiyoda Corporation 

in joint research with Japan’s New Energy and Industrial 

Technology Development Organization (NEDO) on developing 

integrated recovery technology for low temperature waste heat 

emitted by chemical complexes. During the research project, FOC 

developed technology to recover low temperature waste heat 

released into the atmosphere and reuse it in plants for heating 

and electricity generation. The annual energy savings generated 

by this technology are equivalent to 11,500 kiloliters of crude oil 

and also equivalent to reducing carbon dioxide emissions by 30 

thousand tons annually. 

 Among other activities, FOC began supplying bio-gasoline to 

the market in January 2010, in conjunction with the Japanese oil 

industry’s global warming countermeasures.

Health, Safety, and Environment (HSE) Programs

Safety and Environmental Measures for All Aspects of Operations

http://www.aochd.co.jp/e/environment/Please visit >>>

FOC Code of Conduct

In our daily conduct we emphasize the following:

• Fair ..............  Value relationships with clients, shareholders, employees, and local communities and seek to contribute to society through 

the fair and open conduct of business as a good corporate citizen.

• Operation ...  Give top priority to ensuring safety and protecting the environment in our business activities, producing quality products that 

are useful to society.

• Challenge ...  Based on a motivational and stimulating environment in the workplace, we challenge ourselves to achieve dramatic 

development of our company by demonstrating the maximum amount of initiative and creativity.
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AOC Holdings, Inc. (AOCHD) considers the establishment of 

sound corporate governance to be one of its highest priority 

issues. As an open company with transparent management, 

AOCHD seeks to fulfill its responsibility to report to its 

stakeholders on its efforts to achieve sustained growth in 

corporate value as well as maximize corporate value in the eyes 

of its stakeholders. The Company has also set out the Charter 

of Corporate Behavior with the aim of being a corporate group 

that has the trust and support of people in the society it serves 

and the local communities surrounding its operations.

Charter of Corporate Behavior

Basic Policy

Directors, Corporate Auditors, and Executive Officers (As of June 28, 2011)

From the left: 
Fumio Sekiya, President and Representing Director
Kuniyasu Takeda, Chairman
Kazutoshi Hoyano, Vice President and Representing Director

[ Directors ]

Chairman

Kuniyasu Takeda

President and  
Representing Director

Fumio Sekiya

Vice President and  
Representing Director

Kazutoshi Hoyano

Directors

Taro Shoji

Takashi Enatsu

Nobumasa Hara

Shigemi Tamura

Shigeya Kato

Osamu Ishitobi

Yahya Jamil Shinawi

Nasser Bader Al-Mudhaf

[ Corporate Auditors ]

Shinichi Ame (full-time)

Nobuhiko Ishii

Yasushi Yamawaki

Shigeru Watanabe

[ Executive Officers ]

Yasuo Kiyota

Koichi Sekikawa 

Takashi Yonemoto

Hideki Itoh

The AOC Holdings Group makes it management philosophy 

to contribute to the realization of a satisfactory life and 

comfortable environment in our society through a stable 

supply of oil, natural gas, and petroleum products, critically 

important sources of energy, to support people’s lives and 

industry. In order to realize this philosophy, we at AOCHD 

hereby lay down the Charter of Corporate Behavior and aim 

to become a business corporation that will gain firm trust 

and support of local communities and society.
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We believe that the establishment of the Board of Directors with 

about half of them outside directors and the Board of Corporate 

Auditors a majority of whom are outside auditors can guarantee 

adequate decision-making and the audit and supervisory 

functions of the execution of business operations.

 We also believe that we can enhance the efficiency in the 

execution of business operations by holding meetings of the 

Executive Committee, which consists of full-time directors, a full-

time corporate auditor and executive officers elected by decisions 

of the Board of Directors, regularly and with agility.

 Reflecting the above-described beliefs, we have established 

the following corporate governance structure.

 The Board of Directors, which consists of eleven directors, 

including five highly independent outside directors, makes 

decisions on the basic management policy, matters as prescribed 

by law and regulations and the Articles of Association and other 

important matters relating to management, and supervises the 

directors’ execution of duties.

 The Executive Committee meets every week, in principle, and 

also meets as necessary to share information, and discusses and 

coordinates matters to be referred to the Board of Directors 

as well as matters decided by the Board of Directors and other 

important measures and policies.

 Full-time directors and executive officers strive to execute 

business operations in a speedy, timely and appropriate manner 

in accordance with decisions made by the Board of Directors 

as well as the results of discussions and coordination by the 

Executive Committee.

 The Board of Corporate Auditors, which consists of four 

corporate auditors, including three highly independent outside 

auditors, strictly audits the directors’ execution of duties in close 

cooperation with the Accounting Auditor, the Internal Audit 

Department and auditors of subsidiaries.

   An outline of corporate management organizations related to 

management decision-making, execution and supervision and 

other corporate governance systems is as follows:

Corporate Governance Structure

Corporate Governance Structure
（As of June 28, 2011）

General Meeting of Shareholders

Board of Corporate Auditors

Four corporate auditors
(including three outside auditors)

Accounting Auditor

Internal Audit Department

Board of Directors

Eleven directors
(including five outside directors)

President and Representing Director

Executive Committee

Full-time directors, full-time corporate auditor,
executive officers

Office of
Corporate
Auditors

Assignment,

dismissal of members

Assignment, supervision

Direction Supervision

Assignment,

dismissal of members

http://www.aochd.co.jp/e/group/governance.htmlPlease visit >>>
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Internal Control System

AOCHD has implemented the following internal control sys-

tem—pursuant to the stipulations of the Japanese Companies 

Act—to ensure efficient corporate management and a stringent 

level of compliance with laws and regulations.

 We develop the internal control system in line with the basic 

policy decided by the Board of Directors and strive to improve 

the system through its constant review.

I. System to Ensure Proper Execution of Duties by Directors

The Company shall formulate a Charter of Corporate Behavior 

and make clear its strong commitment to strict compliance with 

all relevant laws and regulations, both in Japan and in overseas 

jurisdictions, as well as its Articles of Association and various 

internal rules. The Board of Directors shall be responsible for making 

decisions regarding the Company’s compliance system and internal 

control system. This specifically includes the formulation of policies 

and plans and the execution of such plans.

 The Company shall appoint outside directors in order to maintain 

and enhance the function of the Board of Directors in supervising 

directors’ execution of duties. In addition, corporate auditors shall 

audit the directors’ execution of duties.

II. System to Ensure Proper Execution of Business Operations

1. System for the storage and management of information

With regard to information relating to the execution of duties by 

directors, important documents shall be recorded, stored, and 

managed in accordance with internal rules, and such documents 

shall be available for subsequent inspection as necessary.

2. Risk management system

Risks that may have a significant impact on the Company’s 

management shall be comprehensively recognized and quantified, 

and a set of rules for managing risk shall be established. A system 

shall also be developed for risk prevention and reduction during 

normal business operations. Should an unforeseen or emergency 

situation arise, a crisis management center shall be rapidly deployed.

3. System to ensure efficient execution of business operations

The Board of Directors shall determine core management policies and 

important matters relating to management, and shall supervise the 

directors’ execution of duties. The Executive Committee, comprising 

the full-time directors, full-time corporate auditor and executive 

officers, shall share information covering all aspects of management 

and shall undertake resolutions to ensure the efficient execution of 

business operations, in accordance with decisions of the Board of 

Directors. Each department and division of the Company shall receive 

instructions from directors and executive officers and shall carry out 

business operations efficiently and in accordance with internal rules 

and shall report the results of their respective operations.

4.  System to ensure proper execution of business operations 

by employees

The Company shall formulate a Charter of Corporate Behavior and 

maintain a thorough level of compliance with all laws and regulations, 

both in Japan and overseas, as well as its Articles of Association and 

internal rules. The Company shall also conduct training programs for 

directors and employees covering compliance issues. The Company 

shall establish a help line for employees to facilitate the reporting 

and discussion of matters relating to legal or internal rule violations. 

5.  System to ensure proper execution of business operations 

of Group companies

The Company shall establish clear criteria for subsidiaries and affiliates 

on matters that must be reported to the Company and matters that 

require approval from the Company. There shall be close liaisons 

and exchanges of information between departments and divisions 

of the Company and subsidiaries and affiliates. The Company shall 

maintain thorough control over subsidiaries and affiliates.

6.  System to assist corporate auditors’ execution of duties

The Company shall establish the Office of Corporate Auditors as 

a department dedicated to assisting the corporate auditors in the 

execution of their duties. The division of duties and operations 

shall be determined in accordance with the views of the corporate 

auditors.

7. Independent assistance for corporate auditors

Staff assigned to the Office of Corporate Auditors shall follow the 

orders and instructions of corporate auditors. Personnel changes and 

employee evaluations in the Internal Audit Department staff require 

the approval of the Board of Corporate Auditors.

8. System of reporting to corporate auditors

The directors and employees shall provide reports to the corporate 

auditors on a regular basis as well as when specifically requested by 

a corporate auditor.

9. Other systems to ensure effective auditing

The directors and corporate auditors shall convene regular meetings 

to ensure the maintenance of sound communications between 

them. To ensure that the corporate auditors are able to carry out 

their duties appropriately, the directors shall cooperate to facilitate 

the corporate auditors’ communication with directors and corporate 

auditors of subsidiaries and affiliates, information gathering and 

exchange, research of major customers and suppliers, and receipt 

of advice from certified public accountants, attorneys, and other 

outside specialists.
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Status of Development of the Risk Management System

As for risk management efforts throughout the Group, based 

on the Charter of Corporate Behavior that makes clear its strong 

commitment to strict compliance with all relevant domestic 

and international laws and regulations, safe operations and 

environmental preservation, contribution to society, responsibility 

of top management and the exclusion of antisocial forces, 

we formulated the AOC Holdings Group Code of Conduct to 

realize the spirit of the Charter of Corporate Behavior as a code 

of practices for all Group officers and employees to follow in 

executing their duties.

 We have formulated “Risk Management Regulations” for 

management of specific risks, and when grave risks are anticipated, 

they are first reported to the President and necessary countermeasures 

are taken after consideration by the Board of Directors and the 

Executive Committee. Should an unexpected contingency arise, we 

establish a crisis management center promptly.

 The Internal Audit Department conducts an audit of the status 

of development of the risk management system based on “Internal 

Audit Regulations” and regularly reports the audit results to the 

Board of Directors and the Board of Corporate Auditors.

 As for compliance, we have formulated “Compliance Promotion 

Regulations” for the purpose of further enhancing the awareness of 

compliance as the Group as a whole by discussing and considering 

important matters related to compliance under the group-wide  

structure not limited to the Legal Department as directly 

Risk Management Structure

Chief Compliance Officer (CCO)
(Officer chiefly responsible for the promotion of compliance across the Group)

Compliance Committee

Compliance Executive
(Compliance leader of each company of the AOC Holdings Group)

Officers and employees

AOC Holdings, Inc.
Legal Department

Assistance

Report, advisement, notice

Bureau

Directions, consultation

Management through rules promoted by 
each company of the AOC Holdings Group

(Each company of the AOC Holdings Group)

Compliance Committee

responsible departments, and also established the Compliance 

Committee, which is chaired by the Director in charge of the Legal 

Department and has representatives of the Company’s divisions 

and subsidiaries as its members. As a means of preventing 

violations of laws and regulations, we have also established the 

Help Line for employees to facilitate the reporting and discussion 

of matters relating to legal or internal rule violations. 

 We will continue to improve the Help Line and other internal 

procedures going forward in order to thoroughly get the spirit of 

the Charter of Corporate Behavior across the Group and strive to 

ensure compliance with corporate ethics and relevant laws and 

regulations, enhancement of the awareness about compliance and 

prevention of violations of laws and regulations.
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Corporate History

1957 Dec. 
1958 Feb. 
 

Jul.

• Conclusion of the concession agreement between the government of Saudi Arabia and Japan Petroleum Trading Co., Ltd. (JPTC)

• Establishment of Arabian Oil Company, Ltd. (AOC), which inherited the concession agreement concluded between Saudi Arabia 

and JPTC

•Conclusion of the concession agreement with the government of Kuwait

1960 Jan. 
1961 Feb. 
 Oct. 
1963 Nov. 
1964 Apr. 
1966 Aug. 
1967 Feb. 
 Nov. 
1968 Oct. 

• Discovery of the Khafji oil field

•Commencement of oil production from the Khafji oil field

•Listing of stock on the Second Section of the Tokyo and Osaka Stock Exchanges

• Discovery of the Hout oil field

•Establishment of Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. (FOC)
•Participation in the Kyodo Oil Group (now JX Nippon Oil & Energy Corporation)

•Discovery of the Lulu oil field

•Discovery of the Dorra gas field

•Startup of the Sodegaura Refinery with a Crude Distillation Unit (CDU) capacity of 70 thousand B/D

1970 Feb. 
 Nov. 
1971 Sep. 
1974 Jan.

• Listing of stock on the First Section of the Tokyo and Osaka Stock Exchanges

• Expansion of the Sodegaura Refinery’s CDU capacity to 140 thousand B/D

• Establishment of Eureka Industry Company, Ltd.

• Government participation in the operations in the offshore Divided Zone by 60%

1981 Feb. 
1982 Dec. 
1983 Apr. 

•Completion of Nakasode Crude Storage Base (first phase) with a storage capacity of 390 thousand kiloliters

•Completion of Nakasode Crude Storage Base (second phase) with a storage capacity of 780 thousand kiloliters

•Establishment of AOC Energy Development Company, Ltd. (AEDC)

1990 Mar. 
 Jun. 
 Nov.
1991 Jan. 
1993 Jul. 
 
 Oct.
1996 Apr. 
1998 Oct. 

•Merger of Eureka Industry Company, Ltd., into FOC

• Commencement of oil production from the Gyda oil field in the Norwegian North Sea

•Commencement of natural gas production from the MC487 gas field in the US Gulf of Mexico

• Temporary shutdown of the operations in the offshore Divided Zone (until early June 1991) due to the outbreak of the Gulf War

• Startup of Aromatics Manufacturing Complex with a production capacity of 150 thousand tons of benzene and 190 thousand 

tons of xylene per year

•Commencement of oil production from the Lufeng 13-1 oil field in the South China Sea

•Acquisition of ISO 9002 certification

•Reinforcement of the Sodegaura Refinery’s CDU capacity to 192 thousand B/D

2000 Feb. 
2001 Mar. 
2002 Apr. 
2003 Jan. 
 
 
 May 
2005 Jun. 
 
 Jul.
 
 Oct. 
 
2006 Apr. 
 
2008 Jan. 
 Mar. 
 Oct. 
2009 Feb.

• Expiry of the concession agreement with the government of Saudi Arabia

•Acquisition of ISO 14001 certification

•Acquisition of ISO 9001 certification

• Expiry of the concession agreement with Kuwait and the effectuation of new agreements with Kuwait

•Business integration of AOC and FOC with the establishment of a joint stockholding company

• Establishment of AOC Holdings, Inc., with ¥20,000 million in capital and listing on the First Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange

• Merger of AEDC into AOC

• Conclusion of the memorandum of understanding with Iraq’s Ministry of Oil on AOC’s technical assistance to Iraq’s upstream oil 

sector

• Conclusion of the production sharing contract with the Egyptian government and the Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation for oil 

and gas exploration and development in the Northwest October Block of the Gulf of Suez in Egypt

•Commencement of petroleum products supply to Showa Shell Sekiyu K. K. under a new business alliance

•Increase of capital to ¥24,467 million by the third-party allocation of new shares

• Commencement of petroleum products supply to Japan Airlines International Co., Ltd. (now Japan Airlines Co., Ltd.), and Kyushu 

Oil Co., Ltd. (now JX Nippon Oil & Energy Corporation), under a new business alliance

•Expiry of the technical services agreement with Kuwait concluded in 2003

•Startup of the No. 2 FCC unit with a capacity of 18 thousand B/D in the Sodegaura Refinery

•Establishment of AOC Egypt Petroleum Company, Ltd.

•Termination of oil production from the Lufeng 13-1 oil field in the South China Sea

2010 Nov.
2011 Apr.

•Reduction of the Sodegaura Refinery’s CDU capacity to 140 thousand B/D

•Reinforcement of the Sodegaura Refinery’s CDU capacity to 143 thousand B/D

1950

1960

1970

1980

2010

1990

2000

• Arabian Oil Company, Ltd.     • Fuji Oil Company, Ltd.    • AOC Holdings, Inc.
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Company Head Office Capital Major Shareholders Principal Business

Arabian Oil Company, Ltd. (AOC) Tokyo ¥13,000 million AOC Holdings, Inc.:
100%

Exploration, development,
production, and sale of crude oil
and natural gas

Norske AEDC AS (NAEDC) Norway Nkr 30 million AOC: 100% Exploration, development,
production, and sale of crude oil and
natural gas in Norway

AOC Egypt Petroleum 
Company, Ltd.

Tokyo ¥500 million AOC: 100% Exploration, development,
production, and sale of crude oil and
natural gas in Egypt

Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. (FOC) Tokyo ¥10,225 million AOC Holdings, Inc.:
100%

Oil refining, storage, sales and 
purchasing, and export and import of 
petroleum products

Petro Progress, Inc. Tokyo ¥3,000 million FOC:100% Purchasing, marketing, and 
transportation of crude oil and 
petroleum products

Petro Progress Pte Ltd. Singapore S$34 million Petro Progress, Inc.:
100%

Overseas purchasing, marketing, 
and transportation of crude oil and 
petroleum products

Fuji Tanker Company, Ltd. Tokyo ¥50 million FOC: 100% Chartering and scheduling of oil
tankers

Fuji Oil Sales Co., Ltd. Tokyo ¥100 million FOC: 100% Sale of petroleum products 

Fuji Rinkai Co., Ltd. Chiba ¥10 million FOC: 85% Loading and unloading of oil

Aramo Shipping

(Singapore) Pte Ltd.

Singapore US$20,742 
thousand

Petro Progress
Pte Ltd.: 50%

Operation of crude oil tankers

Japan Oil Engineering Co., Ltd. Tokyo ¥600 million FOC: 50.0%
AOC: 49.9%

Engineering and consulting
services in upstream and downstream 
sectors of the oil and gas industry

Tokyo Petroleum 

Industrial Co., Ltd.

Tokyo ¥120 million AOC: 49.8% Manufacturing, sale, and recycling
of asphalt mixture
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Website Guide

Search

AOCHD’s website provides a variety of 

information.

http://www.aochd.co.jp/e/

Please see this page for useful IR 
information for our shareholders 
and investors.

http://www.aochd.co.jp/
e/ir/

Investor Relations

Please see this page for the AOC 

Holdings Group’s organization and 

its principal business.

http://www.aochd.co.jp/
e/group/index.html

Group Information

For a look at the Group’s 

environmental activities, please 

see this page.

http://www.aochd.co.jp/
e/environment/

Environmental Activities

AOC Holdings

AOC Holdings, Inc., positions its website as a powerful tool for providing up to date corporate information.

Home Page
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
AOC Holdings, Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
As of March 31, 2011 and 2010

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Assets 2011 2010 2011

Current assets:
 Cash and deposits (Notes 4 and 16) ¥ 22,379 ¥ 17,300 $  269,140
 Notes and accounts receivable—trade (Note 4) 67,138 82,913 807,432
 Short-term investment securities (Notes 4, 5, and 16) 323 395 3,885
 Inventories (Note 3) 102,202 69,236 1,229,128
 Accounts receivable—other (Note 4) 2,166 3,241 26,049
 Deferred tax assets (Note 9) 1,593 901 19,158
 Other (Notes 8 and 12) 11,025 14,174 132,592
   Total current assets 206,829 188,164 2,487,420

Property, plant and equipment (Note 6):
 Buildings and structures (Note 8) 27,240 25,459 327,601
 Storage tanks (Note 8) 2,001 1,945 24,065
 Machinery, equipment and vehicles (Note 8) 45,975 56,335 552,916
 Land (Notes 7 and 8) 51,298 51,306 616,933
 Construction in progress 454 410 5,460
 Other 302 304 3,632
   Total property, plant and equipment 127,273 135,762 1,530,643

Intangible assets 1,728 2,064 20,782

Investments and other assets:
 Investment securities (Notes 4, 5, and 8) 11,991 12,795 144,209
 Long-term loans receivable (Notes 4, 8, and 12) 13,722 25,279 165,027
 Long-term time deposits (Notes 4 and 8) 1,383 6,823 16,633
 Investment for exploration development 3,915 4,020 47,084
 Deferred tax assets (Note 9) 1,998 — 24,029
 Other 2,101 1,728 25,268
 Allowance for doubtful accounts (400) (400) (4,811)
   Total investments and other assets 34,711 50,246 417,450
   Total assets ¥370,542 ¥376,238 $4,456,308

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Liabilities and Net assets 2011 2010 2011

Current liabilities:
 Accounts payable—trade (Note 4) ¥ 55,542 ¥ 28,770 $   667,974
 Short-term loans payable (Notes 4 and 8) 98,084 120,886 1,179,603
 Current portion of long-term loans payable (Notes 4, 8, and 12) 15,932 18,669 191,606
 Accounts payable—other (Note 4) 11,817 10,326 142,117
 Excise taxes payable on gasoline and other fuels (Note 4) 10,092 16,061 121,371
 Income taxes payable (Notes 4 and 9) 457 933 5,496
 Provision for loans receivable agreement expenses 277 465 3,331
 Other (Note 8) 6,531 2,849 78,545
   Total current liabilities 198,735 198,963 2,390,078

Noncurrent liabilities:
 Long-term loans payable (Notes 4, 8, and 12) 58,783 67,191 706,951
 Deferred tax liabilities (Note 9) 11,949 11,526 143,704
 Provision for retirement benefits (Note 10) 3,600 3,710 43,295
 Provision for directors’ retirement benefits 242 199 2,910
 Provision for special repairs 1,924 1,772 23,139
 Provision for repairs 1,191 387 14,324
 Provision for loans receivable agreement expenses 204 538 2,453
 Other 843 603 10,138
   Total noncurrent liabilities 78,739 85,930 946,951

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Notes 12 and 13)

Net assets (Note 11)
 Shareholders’ equity:
  Capital stock:
   Authorized—200,000,000 shares in 2011 and 2010
   Issued—78,183,677 shares in 2011 and 2010 24,467 24,467 294,251
  Capital surplus 57,679 57,679 693,674
  Retained earnings 17,058 13,057 205,147
  Treasury stock (Notes 8 and 11) (1,239) (1,239) (14,901)
   Total shareholders’ equity 97,965 93,964 1,178,172
 Accumulated other comprehensive income:
  Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 192 403 2,309
  Deferred gains or losses on hedges — (17) —
  Revaluation reserve for land 2 2 24
  Foreign currency translation adjustments (5,170) (3,239) (62,177)
   Total accumulated other comprehensive income (4,975) (2,850) (59,832)
   Minority interests 77 230 926
   Total net assets 93,067 91,344 1,119,266
   Total liabilities and net assets ¥370,542 ¥376,238 $4,456,308
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
AOC Holdings, Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
For the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Net sales (Note 20) ¥571,149 ¥594,784 $6,868,900 
Cost of sales 560,627 593,381 6,742,357 
  Gross profit 10,521 1,403 126,530

Exploration expenses 1,086 1,344 13,061
Selling, general and administrative expenses 5,071 5,044 60,986 
  Operating income (loss) 4,363 (4,985) 52,471

Non-operating income (expenses):
 Interest and dividends income 797 666 9,585
 Equity in earnings of affiliates 979 — 11,774 
 Interest expenses (2,718) (2,565) (32,688)
 Foreign exchange losses, net (2,006) (443) (24,125)
 Loss on retirement of noncurrent assets (196) (692) (2,357)
 Other, net (Note 7) 100 7 1,203

(3,044) (3,027) (36,609)

  Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests 1,318 (8,010) 15,851

Income taxes (Note 9):
 Income taxes—current (495) 167 (5,953)
 Income taxes—deferred (2,221) 7,900 (26,711)

(2,716) 8,067 (32,664)
  Income (loss) before minority interests 4,034 (16,079) 48,515
Minority interests 15 81 180
  Net income (loss) ¥  4,019 ¥ (16,160) $   48,334

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
AOC Holdings, Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
For the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Income before minority interests ¥ 4,034 — $ 48,515
 Other comprehensive income
  Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities (211) — (2,538)
  Deferred gains or losses on hedges 17 — 204
  Foreign currency translation adjustments (980) — (11,786)
  Share of other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using equity method (950) — (11,425)
  Total other comprehensive income (2,124) — (25,544)
 Comprehensive income (Note 19) ¥ 1,909 — $ 22,959 
 Comprehensive income attributable to:
  Owners of the parent ¥ 1,894 — $ 22,778
  Minority interests 15 — 180

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
AOC Holdings, Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
For the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

Millions of Yen

Shareholders’ equity

Number of  
shares of  

capital stock

 
Capital 
stock

 
Capital 
surplus

 
Retained 
earnings

 
Treasury  

stock

Total  
shareholders’ 

equity

Net assets at March 31, 2009 78,183,677 ¥24,467 ¥57,679 ¥ 30,376 ¥(1,239) ¥111,283
 Dividends from surplus (1,158) (1,158)

 Net loss (16,160) (16,160)

 Purchase of treasury stock (0) (0)

 Net changes of items other  
  than shareholders’ equity  

 Total changes during the period — — (17,319) (0) (17,319)

Net assets at March 31, 2010 78,183,677 24,467 57,679 13,057 (1,239) 93,964
 Net income 4,019 4,019
 Purchase of treasury stock (0) (0)
 Change in scope of consolidation (18) (18)

 Net changes of items other  
  than shareholders’ equity  

 Total changes during the period — — 4,001 (0) 4,001
Balance at March 31, 2011 78,183,677 ¥24,467 ¥57,679 ¥ 17,058 ¥(1,239) ¥ 97,965

Millions of Yen

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Valuation 
difference on 

available-for-sale 
securities

 
Deferred  

gains or losses  
on hedges

 
 

Revaluation 
reserve for land

 
Foreign currency 

translation  
adjustments

Total accumu-
lated other 

comprehensive 
income

 
 

Minority  
interests

 
 

Total 
net assets

Net assets at March 31, 2009 ¥ 160 ¥ — ¥  2 ¥(3,443) ¥(3,280) ¥ 744 ¥108,748 
 Dividends from surplus (1,158)

 Net loss (16,160)

 Purchase of treasury stock (0)

 Net changes of items other  
  than shareholders’ equity

 
 243 

 
 (17) 

 
 

 
 203

 
 429

 
 (514)

 
 (84)

 Total changes during the period 243 (17) — 203 429 (514) (17,403)

Net assets at March 31, 2010 403 (17) 2 (3,239) (2,850) 230 91,344
 Net income 4,019
 Purchase of treasury stock (0)
 Change in scope of consolidation (18)

 Net changes of items other  
  than shareholders’ equity

 
 (211) 

 
 17

 
 

 
 (1,930)

 
 (2,124)

 
 (153)

 
 (2,278)

 Total changes during the period (211) 17 — (1,930) (2,124) (153) 1,722
Balance at March 31, 2011 ¥ 192 ¥ —  ¥  2 ¥(5,170) ¥(4,975) ¥  77 ¥ 93,067

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Shareholders’ equity

Number of  
shares of  

capital stock

 
Capital 
stock

 
Capital 
surplus

 
Retained 
earnings

 
Treasury  

stock

Total  
shareholders’ 

equity

Net assets at March 31, 2010 78,183,677 $294,251 $693,674  $157,029 $(14,901) $1,130,054
 Net income 48,334 48,334
 Purchase of treasury stock (0) (0)
 Change in scope of consolidation (216) (216)

 Net changes of items other  
  than shareholders’ equity  

 Total changes during the period — — 48,118 (0) 48,118
Balance at March 31, 2011 78,183,677  $294,251 $693,674 $205,147 $(14,901) $1,178,172 

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Valuation 
difference on 

available-for-sale 
securities

 
Deferred  

gains or losses  
on hedges

 
 

Revaluation 
reserve for land

 
Foreign currency 

translation  
adjustments

Total accumu-
lated other 

comprehensive 
income

 
 

Minority  
interests

 
 

Total 
net assets

Net assets at March 31, 2010 $ 4,847 $(204) $24 $(38,954) $(34,275) $ 2,766 $1,098,545
 Net income 48,334 
 Purchase of treasury stock (0)
 Change in scope of consolidation (216)

 Net changes of items other  
  than shareholders’ equity

 
 (2,538)

 
 204

 
 

 
 (23,211) 

 
 (25,544)

 
 (1,840)

 
 (27,396)

 Total changes during the period (2,538) 204 — (23,211) (25,544) (1,840) 20,710
Balance at March 31, 2011  $ 2,309 $  — $24 $(62,177) $(59,832) $   926  $1,119,266 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
AOC Holdings, Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
For the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:  
 Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests ¥   1,318 ¥ (8,010) $  15,851
  Depreciation and amortization 13,464 12,922 161,924
  Impairment loss 8 46 96
  Increase (decrease) in provision for repairs 803 (4,988) 9,657
  Decrease in provision for retirement benefits (110) (305) (1,323)
  Decrease in allowance for doubtful accounts — (11) —
  Increase in provision for special repairs 151 30 1,816 
  Increase in provision for directors’ retirement benefits 43 18 517
  Decrease in provision for loans receivable agreement expenses (523) (745) (6,290)
  Interest and dividends income (797) (667) (9,585)
  Interest expenses 2,718 2,565 32,688
  Equity in (earnings) losses of affiliates (979) 71 (11,774)
  Loss on retirement of noncurrent assets 196 692 2,357
  Gain on sales of noncurrent assets (1) (1) (12)
  Gain on sales of affiliates’ shares (30) — (361)
  Loss on adjustment for changes of accounting standard for asset retirement obligations 63 — 758
  Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable - trade 13,532 (27,267) 162,742
  Increase in inventories (32,967) (9,883) (396,476)
  Increase (decrease) in notes and accounts payable - trade 26,772 (154) 321,972
  Decrease in excise taxes payable on gasoline and other fuels (5,969) (103) (71,786)
  Other, net 11,002 (3,826) 132,315
   Subtotal 28,695 (39,619) 345,099

 Interest and dividends income received 1,208 1,080 14,528
 Interest expenses paid (2,786) (2,856) (33,506)
 Income taxes paid (316) (1,299) (3,800)
 Income taxes refund 1,359 1,639 16,344
   Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 28,161 (41,054) 338,677

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities:
 Payments into time deposits (13,447) (13,644) (161,720)
 Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits 13,447 13,644 161,720
 Purchase of investment securities (1) (11) (12)
 Proceeds from redemption of securities 4 4 48
 Proceeds from sales of investment securities 34 — 409
 Purchase of investments in subsidiaries (72) — (866) 
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment (6,341) (26,067) (76,260)
 Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 1 7 12
 Purchase of intangible assets (199) (1,704) (2,393)
 Payments of long-term loans receivable (300) (0) (3,608)
 Collection of long-term loans receivable 10,927 14,201 131,413
 Payments for investments for exploration development (962) (185) (11,569)
 Other, net 25 (26) 301
   Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 3,113 (13,781) 37,438

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities:
 Net (decrease) increase in short-term loans payable (22,805) 47,834 (274,263)
 Proceeds from long-term loans payable 10,700 19,450 128,683
 Repayment of long-term loans payable (17,799) (21,731) (214,059)
 Purchase of treasury stock (0) (0) (0)
 Cash dividends paid (3) (1,158) (36)
 Cash dividends paid to minority shareholders (90) (595) (1,082)
 Other, net (87) — (1,046)
   Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (30,085) 43,798 (361,816)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1,483) (71) (17,835)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (293) (11,108) (3,524)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (Note 16) 17,682 28,790 212,652
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 16) ¥  17,388   ¥ 17,682 $ 209,116 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
AOC Holdings, Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared from the accounts maintained by AOC Holdings, Inc. 

(the “Company”) and its domestic and foreign subsidiaries (the 

“Companies”), and are compiled from the consolidated finan-

cial statements prepared by the Company as required by the 

Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan.

 The Company and its domestic subsidiaries maintain their ac-

counting records in conformity with accounting principles and 

practices generally accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), 

which are different in certain respects as to application and  

disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting 

Standards. Foreign subsidiaries maintain their accounting re-

cords in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards.

 The accompanying consolidated financial statements have 

been restructured and translated into English from the consoli-

dated financial statements of the Company prepared in accor-

dance with Japanese GAAP and filed with the appropriate Local 

Finance Bureau of the Ministry of Finance as required by the 

Financial Instruments and Exchange Law. Certain supplemen-

tary information included in the statutory Japanese language 

consolidated financial statements, but not required for fair pre-

sentation, is not presented in the accompanying consolidated 

financial statements.

 As permitted by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law, 

amounts of less than one million yen have been omitted. As a 

result, the totals shown in the accompanying consolidated fi-

nancial statements (both in yen and U.S. dollars) do not neces-

sarily agree with the sum of the individual amounts.

 The translation of yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts is 

included solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan 

and has been made, as a matter of arithmetic computation 

only, at the rate of ¥83.15 = U.S.$1.00, the approximate rate of 

exchange on March 31, 2011. This translation should not be 

construed as a representation that yen amounts have been, 

could have been, or could in the future be, converted into U.S. 

dollars at the above or any other rate.

Basis of Presenting the Consolidated Financial Statements1.

(a) Principles of consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include 

the accounts of the Company and its eight and nine significant 

subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries”) as of March 31, 2011 and 

2010, respectively. Consolidated subsidiaries as of March 31, 

2011 are as follows:

■ Arabian Oil Company, Ltd.

■ Fuji Oil Company, Ltd.

■ Fuji Oil Sales Co., Ltd.

■ Fuji Tanker Company, Ltd.

■ Fuji Rinkai Co., Ltd.

■ Norske AEDC AS

■ Petro Progress, Inc.

■ Petro Progress Pte Ltd.

 Six and eight other subsidiaries in 2011 and 2010, respec-

tively, are excluded from the scope of consolidation because 

they are less material in terms of total assets, net sales, net  

income (loss) and retained earnings and do not have a material 

effect on the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

 As New Huanan Oil Development Co., Ltd., is currently un-

dergoing liquidation proceedings, this company is not included 

in the number of consolidated subsidiaries.

 Petro Progress Pte Ltd. and Norske AEDC AS have a fiscal 

year-end of December 31. The consolidated financial state-

ments incorporate the accounts of the above companies for 

the fiscal year ended December 31 with adjustments for sig-

nificant transactions arising after year-end.

 All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have 

been eliminated on consolidation.

(b) Equity method

The equity method was applied to the investments in two non-

consolidated subsidiaries and an affiliate in 2011 and 2010.

 Non-consolidated subsidiaries and an affiliate accounted for 

by the equity method as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 are as 

follows:

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies2.
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 Non-consolidated subsidiaries accounted for by the equity 

method:

■ Japan Oil Engineering Co., Ltd.

■  Tokyo Petroleum Industrial Co., Ltd.

 Affiliate accounted for by the equity method:

■ Aramo Shipping (Singapore) Pte Ltd.

 Investment securities (equity) in other non-consolidated sub-

sidiaries and affiliates (seven and eight companies in 2011 and 

2010, respectively) are not accounted for by the equity meth-

od, but stated at cost, because the corresponding amounts of 

net income (loss) and retained earnings are immaterial and do 

not have a material effect on the consolidated financial state-

ments as a whole.

 The accounts of certain equity method subsidiaries and af-

filiates with a fiscal year-end different from the Company’s fis-

cal year-end are consolidated on the basis of the equity method 

subsidiaries’ and affiliates’ respective fiscal year-end.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents

In preparing the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash 

equivalents include all highly liquid debt instruments with an 

original maturity of three months or less.

(d)  Short-term investment securities and investment  

securities

Securities other than equity securities issued by subsidiaries 

and affiliates are classified as either held-to-maturity securities 

or available-for-sale securities. Held-to-maturity securities are 

carried at amortized cost. Short-term investment securities and 

investment securities classified as available-for-sale securities 

are carried at fair value with any changes in valuation on avail-

able-for-sale securities, net of taxes, included directly in accu-

mulated other comprehensive income under net assets. The 

cost of marketable available-for-sale securities sold is calculat-

ed by the moving-average method. Non-marketable securities 

classified as available-for-sale securities are carried at cost de-

termined by the moving-average method.

(e) Inventories

Inventories held for sale in the ordinary course of business are 

measured at the lower of cost or net selling value, which is 

defined as the selling price less additional estimated manufac-

turing costs and estimated direct selling expenses. The replace-

ment cost may be used in place of the net selling value, if 

appropriate.

 Finished goods, semi-finished goods and crude oil are stated 

at cost determined by the gross average method. Goods in 

transit are stated at cost determined by the specific identifica-

tion method and stored goods are stated at cost determined 

by the moving-average method.

 Effective from April 1, 2010, finished goods and semi-fin-

ished goods are measured at cost determined by the gross av-

erage method on a quarterly basis to reflect changes in their 

market value and to calculate appropriately any profits and 

losses during the appropriate period.

 As a result, operating income and income before income 

taxes and minority interests for the year ended March 31, 2011 

increased by ¥1,460 million ($17,559 thousand), compared to 

the previous method of measuring annually at cost determined 

the gross average method.

(f) Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment, and 

acquired intangibles subject to amortization, are reviewed for 

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indi-

cate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recover-

able. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured 

by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to esti-

mated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be gener-

ated by the asset. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds 

its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recog-

nized in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset 

exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of by 

sale are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair 

value less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated.

(g) Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation of manufacturing plant equipment for petro-

chemical products and in-house power generating equipment 

is calculated principally by the declining-balance method and 

depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is calcu-

lated principally by the straight-line method, except for one 

consolidated subsidiary using the declining-balance method, 

based on the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. In 

addition, certain foreign consolidated subsidiaries are using 

the unit-of-production method for certain assets. The useful 

lives of major property, plant and equipment are summarized 

as follows:
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■ Buildings and structures 2 to 60 years

■ Storage tanks 10 to 15 years

■ Machinery, equipment and vehicles 2 to 17 years

 Intangible assets, except for mineral rights which are amor-

tized by the unit-of-production method, are amortized by the 

straight-line method over their respective estimated useful 

lives. Software intended for internal use is amortized by the 

straight-line method over an estimated useful life of five years.

 With regard to certain new equipment designed to ensure 

stable, long-term operation through technical innovation, tak-

ing into consideration its wear status from the inspection con-

ducted during the consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 

2011 and their future repair plans, the Companies revised their 

estimate of the equipment's useful life.

 As a result, effective from the fourth quarter of the consoli-

dated fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, the Companies re-

vised the estimated useful life of certain equipment from the 

tax basis of seven years to 16–17 years. Accordingly, deprecia-

tion expenses decreased by ¥704 million ($8,467 thousand), 

and operating income and income before income taxes and 

minority interests each increased by ¥559 million ($6,723 thou-

sand) for the consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 2011.

(h) Allowance for doubtful accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts is provided at an amount 

determined based on the historical experience of bad debts 

with respect to ordinary receivables, plus an estimate of uncol-

lectible amounts determined by reference to specific doubtful 

receivables.

(i) Provision for repairs

The provision for repairs is provided at an amount equivalent to 

the estimated amount of statutory periodical maintenance ex-

penses for machinery and equipment.

(j) Provision for special repairs

The provision for special repairs is provided at an amount de-

termined based on historical experience with respect to the 

periodical inspection and maintenance expenses for storage 

tanks required by the Fire Defense Law and for vessels required 

by the Vessel Safety Law.

(k) Provision for loans receivable agreement expenses 

The technical services agreement between Arabian Oil 

Company, Ltd. (“AOC”), a wholly-owned subsidiary, and 

Kuwait Gulf Oil Company (“KGOC”) expired on January 4, 

2008. This contract constituted part of the contracts structure 

with Kuwait, replacing the old concession agreement. Provision 

for loans receivable agreement expenses is provided for a part 

of the loan agreement expenses relating to Kuwait contracts, 

deemed irrecoverable as of March 31, 2011.

(l) Provision for retirement benefits 

Certain consolidated subsidiaries provide for defined benefit 

employees’ retirement benefits principally by basing calculations 

on the estimated present value of benefit obligations and the 

estimated fair value of plan assets as of the balance sheet date.

 Prior service costs are amortized by the straight-line method 

over a period (10 years) within the average remaining years of 

service of the eligible employees.

 Actuarial gains and losses are amortized from the year fol-

lowing the year in which the gain or loss is incurred by the 

straight-line method over a period (10 years) within the aver-

age remaining years of service of the eligible employees.

 Effective from the year ended March 31, 2010, the Company 

and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries adopted the “Partial 

Amendments to Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits 

(Part 3)” (Accounting Standards Board of Japan (“ASBJ”) 

Statement No. 19 issued on July 31, 2008).

 The new accounting standard requires domestic companies 

to use the rate of return on long-term government or gilt-

edged bonds as of the end of the fiscal year for calculating the 

projected benefit obligation of a defined-benefit plan. 

Previously, domestic companies were allowed to use a discount 

rate determined taking into consideration fluctuations in the 

yield of long-term government and gilt-edged bonds over a 

certain period. 

(m) Provision for directors’ retirement benefits

Provision for directors’ retirement benefits is estimated based 

on the amount calculated in accordance with internal rules.

(n) Leases

Leased assets under finance leases commencing after March 

31, 2008 are capitalized except for certain immaterial or short-

term finance leases, which are accounted for as operating 

leases. Finance leases that do not transfer ownership of the 

leased asset to the lessee which commenced prior to April 1, 

2008 and have been accounted for as operating leases, con-

tinue to be accounted for as operating leases.
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(o) Exploration expenses

The expenditures incurred in connection with the exploration 

activities for crude oil and natural gas are charged to income 

and separately disclosed under “Exploration expenses” in the 

accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

(p) Derivatives and hedge accounting

Derivatives are principally stated at fair value. If certain hedging 

criteria are met, the gain or loss on a derivative designated as 

a hedging instrument is deferred as part of accumulated other 

comprehensive income in the accompanying consolidated bal-

ance sheets until the hedged item is settled. Alternatively, for-

eign currency denominated receivables and payables hedged 

by forward exchange contracts are translated at the respective 

forward contract rates. Furthermore, if certain criteria are met, 

an interest rate swap qualified for hedge accounting is not 

stated at fair value but the net settlement of interest under 

such an interest swap is reported as a component of interest 

on related hedged assets or liabilities.

(q) Income taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for expected 

future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences 

between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing 

assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis, and operat-

ing loss and tax credit carryforwards. A valuation allowance is 

recorded to reduce deferred income tax assets to their net re-

alizable value if it is more likely than not that some portion or 

all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

 The Company and its domestic subsidiaries adopt a consoli-

dated tax filing system.

(r) Foreign currency translation

All monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cur-

rencies are translated into Japanese yen at the exchange rate 

prevailing at the balance sheet date, except for foreign cur-

rency denominated monetary receivables and payables hedged 

by forward exchange contracts as noted above. Income and 

expenses in foreign currencies are translated at the rates pre-

vailing at the time of the transactions. The resulting exchange 

gains or losses are credited or changed to income as incurred.

 Financial statements of foreign subsidiaries and affiliates are 

translated into Japanese yen at the balance sheet exchange 

rates for all assets and liabilities, at historical exchange rates for 

shareholders’ equity and average exchange rates during the 

year for all income and expense accounts. Foreign currency 

translation adjustments resulting from the above translation 

procedures are reported as a component of accumulated other 

comprehensive income under net assets in the accompanying 

consolidated balance sheets.

(s) Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior year’s financial statements have 

been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

(t) Investment for exploration development

Investment for exploration development includes the expenditures 

incurred after oil and gas were discovered and the future com-

mercial production was considered to be feasible as a result of 

exploration activities for crude oil and natural gas.

(u) Application of new accounting standards

Accounting Standard for Equity Method of Accounting 

for Investments

From the consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, the 

Companies applied the “Accounting Standard for Equity 

Method of Accounting for Investments” (ASBJ Statement No. 

16, announced on March 10, 2008) and the “Practical Solution 

on Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to Associates 

Accounted for Using the Equity Method” (Practical Issue Task 

Force (“PITF”) No. 24, announced on March 10, 2008).

 There are no effects on income before income taxes and mi-

nority interests as a result of the adoption of this standard.

Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations

“Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations”(ASBJ 

Statement No. 18, issued on March 31, 2008) and “Guidance 

on Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations”(ASBJ 

Guidance No. 21, issued on March 31, 2008) became effective 

for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2010. As a result 

of the adoption of this standard, operating income and income 

before income taxes and minority interests decreased by ¥4 

million ($48 thousand) and ¥68 million ($818 thousand), re-

spectively, compared with the previous accounting method.

Accounting Standard for Business Combinations

“Accounting Standard for Business Combinations” (ASBJ 

Statement No. 21, revised on December 26, 2008),“Account-

ing Standard for Consolidated Financial Statements” (ASBJ 

Statement No. 22, issued on December 26, 2008), “Partial 

Amendment to Accounting Standard for Research and Devel-

opment Costs” (ASBJ Statement No. 23, issued on December 

2
AOCHD at a Glance

4
To Our Shareholders 
and InvestorsFinancial Section



Annual Report 2011      37

Inventories3.

Inventories at March 31, 2011 and 2010 consist of the following:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Finished goods ¥ 19,320 ¥13,349 $  232,351
Semi-finished goods 11,250 12,722 135,298
Raw materials and supplies 71,631 43,164 861,467
 Total ¥102,202 ¥69,236 $1,229,128

Financial Instruments4.

Effective from the year ended March 31, 2010, the Company 

adopted the revised Accounting Standard, “Accounting 

Standard for Financial Instruments” (Accounting Standards 

Board of Japan (“ASBJ”) Statement No. 10 revised on March 

10, 2008) and the “Guidance on Disclosures about Fair Value 

of Financial Instruments” (ASBJ Guidance No. 19 revised on 

March 10, 2008). Information on financial instruments for the 

years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, required pursuant to 

the revised accounting standards is as follows:

(1) Qualitative information on financial instruments

(a) Policies for using financial instruments

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries limit their 

investment of temporary surpluses to short-term deposits 

and procure funds for capital investment and working cap-

ital through bank loans. Derivatives are employed to hedge 

against the risks described below; the Company and its 

consolidated subsidiaries do not engage in speculative 

transactions.

(b) Policies and systems for risk management

Trade notes and accounts receivable, which are claimable 

assets, are subject to customer credit risk. Also, certain 

imported commodities are denominated in foreign curren-

cies, and therefore entail exchange rate fluctuation risk, as 

are products for export that are denominated in foreign 

currencies. The Company uses forward foreign exchange 

contracts to hedge this risk. As deferral hedge accounting 

is employed for forward foreign exchange contracts, an 

evaluation of hedge effectiveness is not performed.

 Short-term investment securities and investment securi-

ties are mainly held-to-maturity bonds and unlisted equity 

securities. The Company also holds shares in affiliated 

companies and provides them with long-term loans.

 Most accounts payable, which are trade liabilities, are 

payable within four months. Certain accounts payable and 

the below-mentioned short-term loans payable related to 

crude oil imports are denominated in foreign currencies 

and are therefore subject to exchange rate fluctuation risk. 

Forward foreign exchange contracts are used to hedge 

26, 2008), “Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” 

(ASBJ Statement No. 7, revised on December 26, 2008), “Ac-

counting Standard for Equity Method of Accounting for Invest-

ments” (ASBJ Statement No. 16, announced on December 26, 

2008) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Business 

Combinations and Accounting Standard for Business Divesti-

tures” (ASBJ Guidance No. 10, revised on December 26, 2008) 

became effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 

2010, and the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have 

applied them from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011.

(v) Changes in Method of Presentation

Following the application of the “Cabinet Office Ordinance for 

Partial Amendment of the Ordinance on Terminology, Forms, and 

Preparation Methods of Financial Statements.” (Cabinet Office 

Ordinance No. 5, issued on March 24, 2009) based on the “Ac-

counting Standard for Consolidated Financial Statements” (ASBJ 

Statement No. 22, issued on December 26, 2008), the account 

item of “income before minority interests” is presented in the 

Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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this risk. As deferral hedge accounting is applied for for-

ward foreign exchange contracts, an evaluation of hedge 

effectiveness is not performed.

 Among loans, short-term loans payable include mainly 

funds raised as working capital in relation to crude oil im-

ports. Long-term loans payable mainly comprise funds 

raised for capital expenditure and to fund lending to 

KGOC. Floating-rate loans are subject to interest rate fluc-

tuation risk, but for most long-term loans the Company 

minimizes the risk of fluctuations in interest payments by 

fixing payment interest rates, employing interest rate swap 

transactions to hedge individual contracts. With regard to 

the evaluation of hedge effectiveness, as interest rate 

swaps meet the conditions for the application of excep-

tional accounting as described in Note 2 (p), an evaluation 

of hedge effectiveness is not performed.

 Lease obligations related to finance lease transactions 

mainly involve office equipment.

 With regard to derivative transactions, in addition to the 

above-mentioned forward foreign exchange contracts and 

interest rate swap transactions, for forecasted transactions 

for crude oil and products, the Company uses commodity 

swap transactions as a method of hedging the risk of fluc-

tuations in future cash flows arising from commodity price 

fluctuations. The evaluation of hedge effectiveness is 

based on a comparison between the price fluctuations on 

crude oil and products and the cumulative fluctuation in 

rates on hedged items during the period from hedge com-

mencement until the evaluation date.

 With regard to the execution and control of derivative 

transactions, authorizations and monetary limits on trans-

actions and controls are determined in accordance with 

internal regulations.

 When employing derivatives, the Company selects as 

contractual counterparties Japanese banks, major trading 

companies and securities firms with high credit ratings. 

Consequently, the credit risk arising from counterparties 

being unable to fulfill their contractual obligations is con-

sidered negligible.

 Trade liabilities and loans are subject to liquidity risk. To 

manage this risk, the Company creates and updates cash 

flow plans in a timely manner on the basis of reports from 

individual departments.

(c) Supplemental information on fair values

In Note 4 (2) Fair values of financial instruments, market 

risk related to derivative financial instruments is not in-

cluded in the contract amounts of those instruments.
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(2) Fair values of financial instruments

Carrying values and fair values of the financial instruments on the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 are  

set out in the table below.

 The following table does not include financial instruments for which it is extremely difficult to determine the fair value.

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Assets 2011 2010 2011

Carrying value
 Cash and deposits ¥  22,379 ¥  17,300 $   269,140
 Notes and accounts receivable—trade 67,138 82,913 807,432
 Short-term investment securities and investment securities:
  Held-to-maturity debt securities 8 13 96
  Available-for-sale securities 2,121 2,620 25,508
 Accounts receivable—other 2,166 3,241 26,049
 Long-term loans receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts 13,322 24,879 160,216
 Long-term time deposits 1,383 6,823 16,633
   Total 108,520 137,792 1,305,111

Fair value
 Cash and deposits  22,379 17,300  269,140
 Notes and accounts receivable—trade 67,138 82,913 807,432
 Short-term investment securities and investment securities:
  Held-to-maturity debt securities 8 13 96
  Available-for-sale securities 2,121 2,608 25,508
 Accounts receivable—other 2,166 3,241 26,049
 Long-term loans receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts 13,322 24,879 160,216
 Long-term deposits 1,383 6,823 16,633
   Total 108,520 137,780 1,305,111

Difference
 Cash and deposits — — —
 Notes and accounts receivable—trade — — —
 Short-term investment securities and investment securities:
  Held-to-maturity debt securities (0) (0) (0)
  Available-for-sale securities — (11) —
 Accounts receivable—other  —  —  —
 Long-term loans receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts — — —
 Long-term time deposits — — —
   Total ¥          (0) ¥        (11) $             (0)
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Liabilities 2011 2010 2011

Carrying value
 Accounts payable—trade ¥  55,542 ¥  28,770 $   667,974
 Short-term loans payable 98,084 120,886 1,179,603
 Accounts payable—other 11,817 10,326 142,117
 Excise taxes payable on gasoline and other fuels 10,092 16,061 121,371
 Income taxes payable 457 933 5,496
 Long-term loans payable 74,715 85,861 898,557
   Total 250,709 262,839 3,015,141

Fair value
 Accounts payable—trade  55,542 28,770  667,974
 Short-term loans payable 98,084 120,886 1,179,603
 Accounts payable—other 11,817 10,326 142,117
 Excise taxes payable on gasoline and other fuels 10,092 16,061 121,371
 Income taxes payable 457 933 5,496
 Long-term loans payable 74,372 86,537 894,432
   Total 250,366 263,515 3,011,016

Difference
 Accounts payable—trade — — —
 Short-term loans payable — — —
 Accounts payable—other — — —
 Excise taxes payable on gasoline and other fuels — — —
 Income taxes payable — — —
 Long-term loans payable (343) 676 (4,125)
   Total ¥      (343) ¥       676 $      (4,125) 

Method of calculating the fair value of financial instru-

ments and matters related to investment securities and 

derivative transactions:

Assets:

(a)  Cash and deposits, notes and accounts receivable—

trade and accounts receivable—other

As these instruments are settled within a short term, their car-

rying value approximates fair value.

(b)  Short-term investment securities and investment 

securities

The fair values of equity securities are determined by their 

quoted prices on stock exchanges. The fair values of bonds 

are determined by discounting their value at maturity to pres-

ent value at the corresponding interest rate. See Note 5 for an 

analysis of securities by classification.

(c) Long-term loans receivable

Fair value is calculated based on the present value of estimated 

future cash flows, using an interest rate based on borrower 

credit risk. For loans in danger of default, the fair value may be 

taken as the current value of estimated future cash flows, or, as 

estimated loan losses are calculated based on the expected re-

coverable amount, the fair value determined by subtracting 

current loan loss estimates from the book value as of the bal-

ance sheet date.

(d) Long-term deposits

As these instruments are time deposits with maturities of six 

months, their carrying value approximates fair value.

Liabilities:

(a)  Accounts payable—trade, short-term loans payable, 

accounts payable—other, income taxes payable and 

excise taxes payable on gasoline and other fuels

As these instruments are settled within a short term, their car-

rying value approximates fair value.

(b) Long-term loans payable

For floating-rate loans, the Company assumes that interest 

rates reflect market rates over the short term and credit condi-

tions will not change significantly after loans have gone into 

effect, so that the carrying value approximates fair value. For 
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fixed-rate loans, the total amount of principal and interest is 

discounted to present value using the assumed rate of interest 

on new loans of the same type to calculate fair value. 

 One consolidated subsidiary employs the same valuation 

method for variable-rate and fixed-rate loans.

Derivatives:

(a) Hedge accounting not applied

The Company has entered into forward exchange contracts to 

which hedge accounting has not been applied for the year 

ended March 31, 2011. The contract amounts at March 31, 

2011 are ¥414 million ($4,979 thousand), and the fair value 

and unrealized gains are ¥1 million ($12 thousand). At March 

31, 2010, there were no outstanding derivative transactions 

for which hedge accounting was not applied.

(b) Hedge accounting applied

The Company has applied hedge accounting for forward ex-

change contracts to hedge risks of changes in foreign ex-

change rates on accounts receivable, accounts payable and 

short-term loans payable. The contract amounts at March 31, 

2011 are ¥3,310 million ($39,808 thousand) for accounts re-

ceivable and ¥50,153 million ($603,163 thousand) for ac-

counts payable and short-term loans payable. The contract 

amounts at March 31, 2010 were ¥3,662 million for accounts 

receivable and ¥18,816 million for accounts payable and 

short-term loans payable. As discussed in Note 2 (p), foreign 

currency denominated receivables and payables hedged by 

forward exchange contracts are translated at the respective 

forward contract rates. Therefore, the fair value of accounts 

receivable, accounts payable, and short-term loans payable 

include the fair value of the forward exchange contracts.

 The Company has applied hedge accounting for interest 

rate swap contracts to hedge risks of changes in floating inter-

est rates on long-term loans payable. The contract amount at 

March 31, 2011 is ¥22,378 million ($269,128 thousand) and 

the amount of contracts for which terms are more than one 

year is ¥19,975 million ($240,229 thousand). The contract 

amount at March 31, 2010 was ¥22,161 million and the 

amount of contracts for which terms are more than one year 

was ¥18,108 million. As discussed in Note 2 (p), if interest rate 

swap contracts are used as hedges and meet certain hedging 

criteria, an interest rate swap qualified for hedge accounting 

is not stated at fair value but the net settlement of interest 

under such an interest swap is reported as a component of 

interest on related hedged assets or liabilities. Therefore, the 

fair value of long-term loans payable includes the fair value of 

the interest swap contracts.

 The Company has applied hedge accounting for commodity 

swap contracts to hedge market risk associated with forecast-

ed transactions of crude oil and products. The contract 

amounts at March 31, 2010 were ¥364 million for crude oil 

and ¥1,227 million for products. The fair value of the com-

modity swaps for crude oil and products were ¥10 million and 

¥-39 million, respectively. The fair values are determined based 

on prices indicated by the financial institutions managing 

these transactions for the Company and its consolidated sub-

sidiaries. At March 31, 2011, there were no commodity swap 

contracts to which hedge accounting has been applied.

Financial instruments for which fair value is not readily determinable

The carrying value of financial instruments for which their value was not readily determinable as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 are  

as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Assets 2011 2010 2011

Unlisted equity securities ¥  551 ¥   551 $  6,627
Stocks of affiliated companies ¥9,631 ¥10,005 $115,827
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Monetary claims and securities with maturities after the balance sheet date and their expected maturity values

The redemption schedule for monetary claims and securities with maturity dates as of March 31, 2011, are summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen

One year or less

More than one 
year, within 
five years

More than five 
years, within

10 years
More than
10 years

2011

Cash and deposits ¥22,379 ¥       — ¥  — ¥  —
Notes and accounts receivable—trade 67,138 — — —
Short-term investment securities and investment securities:
 Held-to-maturity debt securities 4 4 — —
 Available-for-sale securities — — — —
Accounts receivable—other 2,166 — — —
Long-term loans receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts 0 13,414 194 112
Long-term time deposits 1,383 — — —
  Total ¥93,072 ¥13,419 ¥194 ¥112

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

One year or less

More than one 
year, within 
five years

More than five 
years, within 

10 years
More than
10 years

2011

Cash and deposits $ 269,140 $         — $     — $     —
Notes and accounts receivable—trade 807,432 — — —
Short-term investment securities and investment securities:
 Held-to-maturity debt securities 48 48 — —
 Available-for-sale securities — — — —
Accounts receivable—other     26,049 — — —
Long-term loans receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts 0 161,323 2,333 1,347
Long-term time deposits 16,633 — — —
  Total $1,119,327 $161,383 $2,333 $1,347

The redemption schedule for monetary claims and securities with maturity dates as of March 31, 2010, are summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen

One year or less

More than one 
year, within 
five years

More than five 
years, within 

10 years
More than
10 years

2010

Cash and deposits ¥  17,300 ¥       — ¥  — ¥  —
Notes and accounts receivable—trade 82,913 — — —
Short-term investment securities and investment securities:
 Held-to-maturity debt securities 4 8 — —
 Available-for-sale securities — — — —
Accounts receivable—other 3,241 — — —
Long-term loans receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts 0 24,934 194 150
Long-term time deposits 6,823 — — —
  Total ¥110,284 ¥24,943 ¥194 ¥150

2
AOCHD at a Glance

4
To Our Shareholders 
and InvestorsFinancial Section



Annual Report 2011      43

Short-Term Investment Securities and Investment Securities5.

The following tables summarize carrying value and fair value of held-to-maturity securities with available fair values as of March 

31, 2011 and 2010:

Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Carrying
value

Fair
value Difference

Carrying
value

Fair
value Difference

2011

Securities with fair value exceeding carrying value:   
 Held-to-maturity securities

 
 ¥—

 
 ¥—

 
 ¥—

 
 $—

 
 $—

 
 $—

Securities with fair value not exceeding carrying value: 
 Held-to-maturity securities

 
 8

 
 8

 
 (0)

 
 96 

 
 96

 
 (0)

  Total ¥ 8 ¥ 8 ¥(0) $96 $96 $(0)

Millions of Yen

Carrying
value

Fair
value Difference

2010

Securities with fair value exceeding carrying value:   
 Held-to-maturity securities

 
 ¥—

 
 ¥—

 
 ¥—

Securities with fair value not exceeding carrying value: 
 Held-to-maturity securities

 
 13

 
 13

 
 (0)

  Total ¥13 ¥13 ¥(0)

 Short-term investment securities and investment securities classified as available-for-sale securities as of March 31, 2011 and 

2010, are summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Acquisition
cost

Carrying
value Difference

Acquisition
cost

Carrying
value Difference

2011

Securities with carrying value exceeding acquisition cost: 
 Equity securities

 
 ¥1,557

 
 ¥1,784

 
 ¥226

 
 $18,725

 
 $21,455

 
 $2,718

Securities with carrying value not exceeding acquisition cost: 
 Equity securities

 
 23

 
 18

 
 (5)

 
 277 

 
 216

 
 (60)

 Other securities  318  318  —  3,824  3,824  —
  Total ¥1,900 ¥2,121 ¥221 $22,850 $25,508 $2,658

Millions of Yen

Acquisition
cost

Carrying
value Difference

2010

Securities with carrying value exceeding acquisition cost: 
 Equity securities

 
 ¥1,562

 
 ¥2,211

 
 ¥649

Securities with carrying value not exceeding acquisition cost: 
 Equity securities

 
 17

 
 16

 
 (0)

 Other securities  391  391  —
  Total ¥1,971 ¥2,620 ¥648

 There were no available-for-sale securities sold during the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010.
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Property, Plant and Equipment6.

Accumulated depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

The accumulated depreciation as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 was ¥236,784 million ($2,847,673 thousand) and ¥228,300 million, 

respectively.

Deferred proceeds from national subsidies and insurance claims

Deferred proceeds from national subsidies and insurance claims is directly deducted from the acquisition cost of the related ma-

chinery, equipment and vehicles in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Proceeds from national subsidies ¥201 ¥201 $2,417
Proceeds from insurance claims ¥128 ¥128 $1,539

Impairment of Fixed Assets7.

Short-Term Loans Payable, Long-Term Loans Payable, and Lease Obligations8.

Short-term loans payable, long-term loans payable, and lease obligations as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 and the weighted aver-

age interest rates on the loans payable outstanding as of March 31, 2011 are as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Short-term loans payable—1.2% ¥ 98,084 ¥120,886 $1,179,603
Current portion of long-term loans payable—1.5% 15,932 18,669 191,606
Lease obligations due within one year 23 18 277
Long-term loans payable, maturing in 2012–2018—2.2% 58,783 67,191 706,951
Lease obligations due after 2012 56 62 673
 Total ¥172,880 ¥206,827 $2,079,134

The Company recorded a loss on impairment of land in 

Ichihara City, Chiba Prefecture, for the years ended March 31, 

2011 and 2010.

 The Company reviewed fixed assets for impairment by 

grouping assets into income-generating units. Regarding the 

land above, as the Company does not intend to use this asset 

in the future and the price of the land is continuously declin-

ing, the book value was reduced to the recoverable amount. 

As a result, a loss in the amount of ¥8 million ($96 thousand) 

and ¥46 million are recorded as a loss on impairment of fixed 

assets under other, net in the accompanying consolidated 

statements of operations for the years ended March 31, 2011 

and 2010, respectively. The recoverable amount of the land is 

assessed based on the appraisal value by an independent real 

estate appraiser.
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 Annual maturities of long-term loans payable as of March 31, 2011 are as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Years ending March 31, 2011

2012 ¥15,932 $191,606 
2013 18,283 219,880
2014 32,765 394,047
2015 3,471 41,744
2016 1,901 22,862

 Future lease payments as of March 31, 2011 are as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Years ending March 31, 2011

2012 ¥23 $277
2013 23 277
2014 14 168
2015 9 108
2016     6 72

Pledged assets

The following assets are pledged as collateral for long-term loans payable and other current liabilities amounting to ¥70,727 million 

($850,595 thousand) and ¥81,305 million, including current portion of ¥14,583 million ($175,382 thousand) and ¥18,669 million, 

as of March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Long-term loans receivable to affiliated companies of ¥2,000 million ($24,053 thou-

sand), eliminated for consolidated purposes, are pledged as collateral.

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Investment securities ¥  2,229 ¥    715 $   26,807
Long-term time deposits 1,383 6,823 16,633
Treasury stock 1,208 1,208 14,528
Buildings and structures 12,802 13,611 153,963
Storage tanks 2,001 1,945 24,065
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 45,918 56,230 552,231
Land 48,952 48,952 588,719
Short-term loans receivable 8,986 11,494 108,070
Long-term loans receivable 12,622 24,179 151,798
Other current assets 13 21 156
 Total carrying value of pledged assets ¥136,118 ¥165,182 $1,637,017

Income Taxes9.

Income taxes applicable to the Company and its domestic subsidiaries comprise corporation, enterprise, and inhabitants’ taxes 

which, in the aggregate, resulted in a statutory tax rate of 40.4% for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010.

 The Company and six domestic subsidiaries adopt a consolidated tax filing system. Income taxes also include foreign income taxes.

 The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011
Deferred tax assets:
 Tax loss carryforwards ¥ 23,555 ¥ 23,514 $ 283,283
 Provision for retirement benefits 1,362 1,384 16,380
 Provision for loans receivable agreement expenses 194 405 2,333
 Foreign income taxes 306 343 3,680
 Provision for repairs 481 157 5,785
 Provision for special repairs 204 192 2,453
 Depreciation 516 548 6,206
 Other 1,097 2,771 13,193
  Subtotal 27,719 29,316 333,361
 Valuation allowance (23,883) (27,471) (287,228)
  Total deferred tax assets 3,836 1,845 46,133
Deferred tax liabilities:
 Valuation difference on assets of consolidated subsidiaries (11,949) (11,949) (143,704)
 Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries (217) (275) (2,610)
 Other (27) (244) (325)
  Total deferred tax liabilities (12,194) (12,470) (146,651)
  Net deferred tax liabilities ¥ (8,358) ¥(10,624) $(100,517)

 The above net deferred tax liabilities are recorded under the following accounts in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011
Current assets—Deferred tax assets ¥  1,593 ¥    901 $  19,158
Non-current assets—Deferred tax assets 1,998 — 24,029
Long-term liabilities—Deferred tax liabilities (11,949) (11,526) (143,704)

 A reconciliation between the statutory income tax rate and the effective income tax rate as a percentage of income before in-

come taxes and minority interests for the year ended March 31, 2011 is as follows:

2011
Statutory income tax rate 40.4%
 Movement in valuation allowance (122.1)
 Adjustment on foreign income (77.6)
 Equity in earnings of affiliates (29.8)
 Dividends income (32.4)
 Other 15.4
Effective income tax rate (206.1)%

 A reconciliation between the statutory income tax rate and the effective income tax rate as a percentage of income before income 

taxes and minority interests for the year ended March 31, 2010 is not presented due to the loss before income taxes for the year 

ended March 31, 2010.

Provision for Retirement Benefits10.

As of March 31, 2011 and 2010, four consolidated subsidiaries had defined benefit retirement plans. The plans consist of tax-

qualified pension plans, mutual aid plans for small and medium size companies and lump-sum severance plans, which cover sub-

stantially all employees who are entitled upon retirement to lump-sum or annuity payments, the amounts of which are determined 

by reference to their basic rate of pay, length of service, and the conditions under which termination occurs. As of March 31, 2011, 

certain consolidated subsidiaries also operate defined contribution retirement plans.

 The following table sets forth the funded and accrued status of the defined benefit retirement plans and the amounts recognized 

in the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2011 and 2010:
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Retirement benefit obligation ¥(5,808) ¥(5,645) $(69,850)
Fair value of plan assets 2,446 2,219 29,417
Unfunded retirement benefit obligation (3,361) (3,426) (40,421)
Unrecognized prior service costs 6 7 72
Unrecognized actuarial difference (26) (15) (313)
Net retirement benefit obligation (3,381) (3,433) (40,661)
Prepaid pension expenses 218 276 2,622
Accrued retirement benefits ¥(3,600) ¥(3,710) $(43,295)

 For the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, three of the consolidated subsidiaries adopted a simplified method in computing 

their retirement benefit obligations as permitted by Japanese GAAP.

 The components of retirement benefit expenses for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Service cost ¥226 ¥172 $2,718
Interest cost 99 98 1,191
Expected return on plan assets (30) (25) (361)
Amortization of prior service cost 0 0 0
Amortization of actuarial difference 65 84 782
 Total ¥362 ¥331 $4,354

 Retirement benefit expenses of the consolidated subsidiaries adopting the simplified method are included in service cost. Special 

retirement benefits paid are recorded under “Non-operating expenses” in the accompanying consolidated statements of  

operations.

 The assumptions used in accounting for the plan not accounted for by the simplified method are as follows:

2011 2010

Discount rate 2.0% 2.0%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 1.6% 1.6%
Amortization period for unrealized actuarial gain or loss 10 years 10 years
Amortization period for prior service costs 10 years 10 years

Under the Japanese Corporate Law (the “Law”) and related 

regulations, the entire amount paid for new shares is required 

to be designated as common stock. However, a company may, 

by a resolution of the Board of Directors, designate an amount 

not exceeding one-half of the price of the new shares as ad-

ditional paid-in capital, which is included in capital surplus.

 Under the Law, in cases where a dividend distribution of 

surplus is made, the lesser of an amount equal to 10% of the 

dividend or the excess, if any, of 25% of capital stock over the 

total of additional paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve 

must be set aside as additional paid-in capital or legal earnings 

reserve. Legal earnings reserve is included in retained earnings 

in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

 Additional paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve may 

not be distributed as dividends. However, all additional paid-in 

capital and legal earnings reserve may be transferred to other 

capital surplus and retained earnings, respectively, which are 

potentially available for dividends.

 The maximum amount that the Company can distribute as 

dividends is calculated based on the non-consolidated finan-

cial statements of the Company in accordance with the Law.

Treasury stock

The number of treasury stock owned by the Companies as of 

March 31, 2011 and 2010 were 966,016 and 965,903 com-

mon stock shares, respectively.

Net Assets11.
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Loan Commitment Agreement12.

As a creditor:

AOC has entered into a loan commitment agreement with KGOC. The outstanding balance of the loan commitment as of March 

31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Total commitments available ¥62,362 ¥69,780 $750,000
Amount utilized 62,362 69,780 750,000
Balance available ¥       — ¥       — $         —

As a debtor:

AOC entered into loan commitment agreements with eight banks aggregating ¥62,362 million ($750,000 thousand) and ¥69,780 

million as of March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, to cover the loan commitments granted to KGOC as noted above. In addition, 

Fuji Oil Company, Ltd., a consolidated subsidiary, entered into loan commitment agreements with ten banks aggregating ¥37,500 

million ($450,992 thousand), ¥22,500 million ($270,595 thousand) of which is restricted to the import usance loans payable, and 

¥37,500 million as of March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, to finance working capital requirements. The outstanding balance of 

such loan commitments as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Total commitments available ¥99,862 ¥107,280 $1,200,986
Amount utilized 83,883 92,106 1,008,815
Balance available ¥15,978 ¥ 15,173 $  192,159

Contingent Liabilities13.

The Companies had the following guarantees of liabilities as of March 31, 2011 and 2010.

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

As guarantors of indebtedness of
Employees (for home purchase)

 
 ¥130

 
 ¥175

 
 $1,563

Guarantee of obligations related to overdraft 
facility of Japan Biofuels Supply LLP

 
 290

 
 435

 
 3,488

Guarantee of obligations related to deferred
payment of consumption taxes on imports of Japan Biofuels Supply LLP

 
 29

 
 12

 
 349

Guarantee of obligations related to letter of credit
agreements of Japan Biofuels Supply LLP

 
 244

 
 146

 
 2,934
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Leases15.

The following pro forma amounts represent the acquisition costs, accumulated depreciation and net book value of leased assets as 

of March 31, 2011 and 2010, which would have been reflected in the consolidated balance sheets if finance lease accounting had 

been applied to the finance leases currently accounted for as operating leases as allowed under Japanese GAAP.

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Acquisition costs:
 Machinery, equipment and vehicles ¥ 12 ¥ 15 $  144
 Other 142 169 1,708
 ¥154 ¥185 $1,852
Accumulated depreciation:
 Machinery, equipment and vehicles ¥  9 ¥  9 $  108
 Other 122 122 1,467
 ¥132 ¥132 $1,587
Net book value:
 Machinery, equipment and vehicles ¥    2 ¥    5 $    24 
 Other 19 47 229
 ¥ 22 ¥ 52 $  265

 Lease payments relating to finance leases accounted for as operating leases in the accompanying consolidated financial statements 

and the related pro forma depreciation expenses for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Lease payments ¥31 ¥39 $373
Depreciation expenses 31 39 373

 Depreciation expenses are computed by the straight-line method over the respective lease terms assuming a nil residual value.

 Future minimum lease payments as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 for finance leases currently accounted for as operating leases 

are summarized as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Due within one year ¥19 ¥31 $229
Due after one year 2 21 24
 Total ¥22 ¥52 $265

Expiration of the Petroleum Contract of New Huanan Oil Development Co., Ltd.14.

New Huanan Oil Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of AOC, 

entered into a Petroleum Contract with China National Offshore 

Oil Corporation and continued production of the Lufeng 13-1 oil 

field in the South China Sea. This contract expired on February 

22, 2009. Consequently, on March 24, 2010, a resolution was 

passed to liquidate New Huanan Oil Development Co., Ltd., and 

liquidation proceedings commenced. 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents16.

Reconciliation of “Cash and cash equivalents” in the consolidated statements of cash flows and “Cash and deposits” in the con-

solidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Cash and deposits ¥22,379 ¥17,300 $269,140
Short-term investment securities 323 395 3,885
 Subtotal 22,702 17,696 273,025
Time deposits maturing over three months (5,309) (10) (63,848)
Debt securities maturing over three months (4) (4) (48)
 Cash and cash equivalents ¥17,388 ¥17,682 $209,116

Per Share Data17.

 
Yen

U.S. Dollars 
(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Net assets per share ¥1,204.26 ¥1,179.96 $14.483
Basic net income (loss) per share 52.06 (209.29) 0.626
Cash dividends per share attributable to the year 6.00 — 0.072

Net assets per share is computed based on the net assets available for distribution to the shareholders of capital stock and the 

number of shares of capital stock outstanding at the year-end.

 Basic net income and loss per share are computed based on the net income available for distribution and loss attributable to 

shareholders of capital stock and the weighted average number of shares of capital stock outstanding during the year. Diluted net 

income per share has been omitted because no potentially dilutive instruments were outstanding during the years ended March 

31, 2011 and 2010.

 Cash dividends per share represent the cash dividends declared as applicable to the respective years, including dividends to be 

paid after the end of the year and not accrued in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Asset Retirement Obligations18.

Asset retirement obligations shown in the consolidated balance sheets

The Companies own buildings that contain asbestos in their building materials. As the removal of such buildings obliges the 

Companies to dispose of this asbestos, this obligation is recorded as asset retirement obligations in accordance with relevant laws 

and statutes. Estimates of such asset retirement obligations include usage periods ranging from 14 years to 49 years, and discount 

rates ranging from 1.672% to 2.285%.

 Furthermore, the Companies own certain Service Station (“SS”) equipment that is located at sites used under real estate leasing 

agreements. As the removal of such SS equipment involves obligations to return land and structures to their original condition, 

asset retirement obligations are recorded in accordance with these agreements. Estimates of such asset retirement obligations in-

clude a usage period of 47 years and a discount rate of 2.285%.
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 Changes in total asset retirement obligations during the consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 are as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011

Balance at the beginning of the year ¥ 98 $1,179
Elapsed time adjustment 2 24
Balance at the end of the year ¥100 $1,203

Note:  The balance at the beginning of the year reflects the application from the consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 of the “Accounting Standard 
for Asset Retirement Obligations” (ASBJ Statement No. 18, March 31, 2008) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obliga-
tions” (ASBJ Guidance No. 21, March 31, 2008). 

Asset retirement obligations other than those shown in the consolidated balance sheets

(1)  The Companies own pipework that contains asbestos. The disposal of such pipework involves the obligation to dispose of as-

bestos. As conducting an investigation into the pipework could have a significant disruption on facility operation and on loading 

and unloading during sales operations, the Companies have difficulty to perform such investigation. Therefore, no rational es-

timate can be provided for this asset retirement obligations. Consequently, no corresponding obligation is included within asset 

retirement obligations.

(2)  The Companies own electrical equipment that contains trace amounts of PCB. The disposal of such equipment involves the 

obligation to dispose of PCB-containing materials. However, as the disposal method is at present unclear, no rational estimate 

can be provided for this asset retirement obligations. Consequently, no corresponding obligation is included within asset retire-

ment obligations.

Comprehensive Income19.

“Accounting Standard for Presentation of Comprehensive Income” (ASBJ Statement No. 25, issued June 30, 2010) became effec-

tive for consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ending on or after March 31, 2011. Accordingly, the Company has 

applied this standard and presents “Valuation and transaction adjustments” and “Total valuation and transaction adjustments” as 

of and for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 as “Accumulated other comprehensive income” and “Total accumulated other 

comprehensive income” as of and for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, respectively.

 Comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2010 comprises as follows:

Millions of Yen

2010

Comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parent ¥(15,731)
Comprehensive income attributable to minority interests 81
 Total ¥(15,649)

 Other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2010 comprises as follows:

Millions of Yen

2010

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities ¥243
Deferred gains or losses on hedges (17)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 95
Share of other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using equity method 108
 Total ¥429
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Segment Information20.

The Companies have applied “Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information” 

(ASBJ Statement No. 17, issued on March 27, 2009) and “Guidance on the Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments 

of an Enterprise and Related Information” (ASBJ Guidance No. 20, issued on March 21, 2008) from the fiscal year ended March 

31, 2011.

(1) Overview of reporting segments

  The Companies’ reporting segments are composed of those individual business units for which separate financial information is 

available, based on which the Board of Directors makes decisions regarding the allocation of management resources and for 

which operating performance can be evaluated, allowing them to be examined periodically. 

   The Companies have two reporting segments: the upstream business of oil/gas development and sales, which is conducted 

chiefly by the Arabian Oil Company, Ltd., and the downstream business of oil refinery and sales, which is conducted chiefly by 

the Fuji Oil Company, Ltd.

   The oil/gas development and sales business primarily involves the exploration, development, production, and sale of crude oil 

and natural gas, while the oil refinery and sales business primarily involves the transportation, refining and sale of petroleum 

products.

(2) Methods of calculating sales, profit or losses, assets, liabilities and other items by reporting segment

  Methods of accounting for reported business segments are in principal the same as those indicated in Note 2“Summary of 

Significant Accounting Policies.” Profit or losses of reporting segments are based on ordinary income or losses. Ordinary income 

(loss) is calculated by adding net extraordinary losses of ¥202 million ($2,429 thousand) and ¥722 million for the years ended 

March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, to income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests. Profit or losses between 

segments and transfer amounts are based on market prices.

(3)  Sales, profit (loss), assets, liabilities and other items by reporting segment as of and for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 

2010 is summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen

Oil/gas  
development  

and sales

 
Oil refinery  
and sales

 
 

Total

 

Adjustments

 
 

Consolidated

2011

Sales:
 Sales to third parties ¥93,196 ¥477,953 ¥571,149 ¥        — ¥571,149
 Intersegment sales — — — — —
 Total sales 93,196 477,953 571,149 — 571,149
Segment profit (loss) ¥ (4,574) ¥  6,087 ¥  1,512 ¥     7 ¥  1,520
Segment assets ¥66,852 ¥311,506 ¥378,358 ¥ (7,816) ¥370,542
Segment liabilities ¥32,010 ¥256,361 ¥288,372 ¥(10,897) ¥277,474

Other:
 Depreciation and amortization 169 13,246 13,416 48 13,464
 Interest income 151 36 187 (1) 186
 Interest expenses 167 2,597 2,764 (45) 2,718
 Equity in earnings of affiliates 455 524 979 — 979
 Other, net 4,724 (202) 4,522 (4,724) (202)
 Investments in equity method affiliates 895 7,915 8,810 — 8,810
 Increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 4,402 1,784 6,187 124 6,312
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Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Oil/gas  
development  

and sales

 
Oil refinery  
and sales

 
 

Total

 
 

Adjustments

 
 

Consolidated

2011

Sales:
 Sales to third parties $1,120,818 $5,748,082 $6,868,900 $          — $6,868,900
 Intersegment sales — — — — —
 Total sales 1,120,818 5,748,082 6,868,900 — 6,868,900
Segment profit (loss) $  (55,009) $   73,205 $   18,184 $     84 $   18,280
Segment assets $  803,993 $3,746,314 $4,550,307 $ (93,999) $4,456,308
Segment liabilities $  384,967 $3,083,115 $3,468,094 $(131,052) $3,337,029

Other:
 Depreciation and amortization 2,032 159,302 161,347 577 161,924
 Interest income 1,816 433 2,249 (12) 2,237
 Interest expenses 2,008 31,233 33,241 (541) 32,688
 Investments in affiliates 5,472 6,302 11,774 — 11,774
 Other, net 56,813 (2,429) 54,384 (56,813) (2,429)
 Investments in equity method affiliates 10,764 95,189 105,953 — 105,953
 Increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 52,940 21,455 74,408 1,491 75,911

Notes: 1. The adjustment on segment profit (loss) of ¥7 million ($84 thousand) includes elimination of intersegment transactions. 
 2.  The adjustment on segment assets of ¥-7,816 million ($-93,999 thousand) consists of elimination of intersegment transactions of ¥-10,213 million 

($-122,826 thousand) and the Company’s assets of ¥2,397 million ($28,827 thousand).
 3.  The adjustment on segment liabilities of ¥-10,897 million ($-131,052 thousand) consists of elimination of intersegment transactions of ¥-10,972 

million ($-131,954 thousand) and the Company’s liabilities of ¥74 million ($890 thousand).
  4. The adjustment on depreciation and amortization of ¥48 million ($577 thousand) is related to the Company’s assets. 
 5. The adjustment on other, net of ¥-4,724 million ($-56,813 thousand) is elimination of intersegment transactions. 
 6.  The adjustment on property, plant and equipment, and intangible fixed assets is an increase of ¥124 million ($1,491 thousand), which is related 

to the Company’s assets. 
 7. Other, net is generated primarily by sale of investment securities within the Companies, and is eliminated through adjustment.

Millions of Yen

Oil/gas  
development  

and sales

 
Oil refinery  
and sales

 
 

Total

 

Adjustments

 
 

Consolidated

2010

Sales:
 Sales to third parties ¥189,804 ¥404,979 ¥594,784 ¥    — ¥594,784
 Intersegment sales — — — — —
 Total sales 189,804 404,979 594,784 — 594,784
 Segment loss ¥  (3,355) ¥   (3,943) ¥   (7,298) ¥    10 ¥   (7,288)
 Segment assets ¥ 88,288 ¥286,590 ¥374,879 ¥ 1,358 ¥376,238
 Segment liabilities ¥ 53,025 ¥238,633 ¥291,658 ¥(6,765) ¥284,893

Other:
 Depreciation and amortization 365 12,515 12,880 41 12,922
 Interest income 525 60 585 (9) 576
 Interest expenses 471 2,152 2,623 (58) 2,565
 Investments in affiliates 126 (198) (71) — (71)
 Other, net — (722) (722) — (722)
 Investments in equity method affiliates 563 8,616 9,180 — 9,180
 Increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 8,420 18,667 27,088 4 27,092

Notes: 1. The adjustment on segment loss of ¥10 million includes elimination of intersegment transactions. 
 2.  The adjustment on segment assets of ¥1,358 million consists of elimination of intersegment transactions of ¥-1,874 million and the Company’s 

assets of ¥3,233 million.
 3.  The adjustment on segment liabilities of ¥-6,765 million consists of elimination of intersegment transactions of ¥-7,070 million and the Company’s 

liabilities of ¥305 million.
 4. The adjustment on depreciation and amortization of ¥41 million is related to the Company’s assets. 
 5.  The adjustment on property, plant and equipment, and intangible fixed assets is an increase of ¥4 million, which is related to the Company’s assets. 
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(4) Significant changes of methods of calculating profit (loss) by reporting segment

As discussed in Note 2 (e), effective from April 1, 2010, finished goods and semi-finished goods are measured at cost determined 

by the gross average method on a quarterly basis to reflect changes in their market value and to calculate appropriately any profits 

and losses during the appropriate period. As a result, segment profit of “Oil refinery and sales” for the year ended March 31, 2011 

increased by ¥1,460 million ($17,559 thousand), compared to the previous method of measuring annually at cost determined the 

gross average method.

 As discussed in Note 2 (g), with regard to certain new equipment designed to ensure stable, long-term operation through tech-

nical innovation, taking into consideration its wear status from the inspection conducted during the consolidated fiscal year ended 

March 31, 2011 and their future repair plans, the Companies revised their estimate of the equipment’s useful life. As a result, ef-

fective from the fourth quarter of the consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, the Companies revised the estimated useful 

life of certain equipment from the tax basis of seven years to 16–17 years. Accordingly, depreciation expenses decreased by ¥704 

million ($8,467 thousand), and segment profit of “Oil refinery and sales” increased by ¥559 million ($6,723 thousand) for the 

consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 2011.

(5) Related information

Sales by products for the year ended March 31, 2011 are as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2011

Petroleum products ¥471,207 $5,666,951  
Crude oil and natural gas 93,102 1,119,687
Other 6,838 82,237       
 Total ¥571,149 $6,868,900    

Sales and property, plant and equipment by geographical areas as of and for the year ended March 31, 2011 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Japan Asia Europe Other Total

2011

Sales ¥495,859 ¥52,197 ¥   702 ¥22,389 ¥571,149
Property, plant and equipment 113,768 — 13,504 0 127,273

Note: For sales, countries and regions are classified on the basis of the location of customers.

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Japan Asia Europe Other Total

2011

Sales $5,963,428 $627,745 $  8,443 $269,260 $6,868,900
Property, plant and equipment 1,368,226 — 162,405 0 1,530,643

Sales to major customers for the year ended March 31, 2011 are as follows:

 
 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Name of customer Related segments 2011

Showa Shell Sekiyu K.K.
Oil/gas development and 
Sales, Oil refinery and sales

¥295,774 $3,557,114  

Information on impairment losses of fixed assets by reporting segment for the year ended March 31, 2011

An impairment loss of fixed assets in the amount of ¥8 million ($96 thousand) is recorded in the oil refinery and sales business for 

the consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 2011.

2
AOCHD at a Glance

4
To Our Shareholders 
and InvestorsFinancial Section



Annual Report 2011      55

Information on gain on negative goodwill by reporting segment for the year ended March 31, 2011

The Company acquired additional shares in a consolidated subsidiary in the oil refinery and sales business in which it had been a 

minority shareholder. As a result, negative goodwill of ¥4 million ($48 thousand) was generated during the consolidated fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2011.

Related Party Transactions21.

The following are the Company’s transactions with its related parties for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010.
2011

Name Relationship Transaction type Transaction amount Account Balance at year-end 

Shigeya
Kato

A director of the Com-
pany and the representa-
tive chairman of Showa 
Shell Sekiyu K. K.

Sale of crude oil  
and products

¥301,492 million
($3,625,881 thousand) 

Accounts  
receivable—trade

 ¥35,600 million
($428,142 thousand)

Purchase of crude oil 
and products

¥184,234 million
($2,215,683 thousand) 

Accounts  
payable—trade

 ¥13,196 million
($158,701 thousand)

Hiromasa 
Yonekura 

A director of the Company 
and the representative direc-
tor of Sumitomo Chemical 
Company, Limited

Sale of petrochemical 
products

 ¥9,044 million
($108,767 thousand)

— —

Osamu
Ishitobi

A director of the Company 
and the representative direc-
tor of Sumitomo Chemical 
Company, Limited

Sale of petrochemical 
products

¥24,607 million
($295,935 thousand)

Accounts  
receivable—trade

¥4,535 million
($54,540 thousand)

2010

Name Relationship Transaction type Transaction amount Account Balance at year-end 

Shigeya
Kato

A director of the Com-
pany and the representa-
tive chairman of Showa 
Shell Sekiyu K. K.

Sale of crude oil  
and products

 ¥216,336 million
Accounts  
receivable—trade

 ¥40,595 million

Purchase of crude oil 
and products

 ¥136,022 million
Accounts  
payable—trade

 ¥14,233 million

Hiromasa 
Yonekura 

A director of the Com-
pany and the representa-
tive director of Sumitomo 
Chemical Company, 
Limited

Sale of petrochemical 
products

 ¥28,187 million
Accounts  
receivable—trade

¥3,740 million

Notes: 1. The transaction amounts are exclusive of consumption tax, while the balances at year-end are inclusive of consumption tax.
 2.  Basis of transactions 

The selling and purchase price of crude oil and petroleum products is determined based on usual general business terms in consideration of 
market prices.

 3.  The transactions with Shigeya Kato, a director of the Company, represent the transactions between the Company and Showa Shell Sekiyu K. K. of 
which Shigeya Kato is the representative chairman.

 4.  The transactions with Hiromasa Yonekura, a director of the Company, represent the transactions between the Company and Sumitomo Chemical 
Company, Limited of which Hiromasa Yonekura is the representative director.

 5.  The transactions with Osamu Ishitobi, a director of the Company, represent the transactions between the Company and Sumitomo Chemical 
Company, Limited of which Osamu Ishitobi is the representative director.

 6.  Hiromasa Yonekura stepped down from his position as director on June 28, 2010, and the transaction amount is recorded as the amount prior to 
his retirement. Also, owing to his retirement as of June 28, 2010, the balance of accounts receivable as of March 31, 2011, is omitted.

 7.  Osamu Ishitobi was appointed as a Company director on June 28, 2010, and the transaction amounts above are from the date of his appointment.
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Investor Information (As of March 31, 2011)

Trade Name AOC Holdings, Inc.
Date of Establishment January 31, 2003
Head Office  Tennozu Parkside Building 
 5-8, Higashishinagawa 2-chome, 
 Shinagawa-ku, Tokyo 140-0002, Japan  
 TEL: 81-3-5463-5061   FAX: 81-3-5463-5043
Paid-in Capital ¥24,467 million
Fiscal Year-End March 31
Employees  Non-Consolidated: 43　 

Consolidated: 605
Principal Business  Through shareholding, the Company is to conduct management of 

subsidiary companies, which carry out the following undertakings: 
1.  To explore, develop, produce, refine, sell, and buy crude 

oil, natural gas, other mineral resources, and new energies 
substituting for oil. 

 2. To export, import, sell, buy, and store petroleum products.

Number of Shares Authorized: 200,000,000 shares
Number of Shares Issued:  78,183,677 shares
Number of Shareholders:  15,094

Principal Shareholders

Name
Number of shares held 

(thousands)
Percentage of total shares 

outstanding (%)

The Tokyo Electric Power Company, Incorporated 6,839.9 8.74

BBH for Fidelity Low Price Stock Fund 6,050.0 7.73

Kuwait Petroleum Corporation 5,811.3 7.43

Government of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 5,811.3 7.43

Showa Shell Sekiyu K. K. 5,144.0 6.57

Sumitomo Chemical Company, Limited 5,051.6 6.46

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account) 2,924.7 3.74

Nippon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha 2,750.8 3.51

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Co., Ltd. (Trust Account) 2,176.5 2.78

The Kansai Electric Power Company, Incorporated 1,900.0 2.43

Total 44,460.3 56.86

Number of Shares Held Types of Shareholders

Less than 1,000
3.59%

(2,809,239 shares)

Individuals and other
domestic investors

13.31%
(10,405,607 shares)

International
companies, etc.

29.75%
(23,262,670 shares)

More than 1,000
6.77%
(5,289,294 shares)

Financial institutions
16.64%
(13,012,300 shares)

Financial instruments
business operators
1.11%
(871,420 shares)

Other domestic companies
39.18%
(30,631,680 shares)

More than 10,000
3.47%
(2,715,328 shares)

More than 50,000
2.24%
(1,753,076 shares)

More than 1,000,000
64.29%

(50,262,960 shares)

More than 100,000
19.64%

(15,353,780 shares)

Composition of Shareholders

Corporate Data

Shareholder Information
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